# STUDENT AND FACULTY PERCEPTIONS OF CLINICAL TEACHING EFFECTIVENESS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BACCALAUREATE DEGREE CLINICAL

### NURSING FACULTY

Except where reference is made to the work of others, the work described in this dissertation is my own or was done in collaboration with my advisory committee. This dissertation does not include proprietary or classified information.

Susan Posey Holmes

Certificate of Approval:

Maria Martinez Witte Associate Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership and Technology

Margaret Ross Associate Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership and Technology James E. Witte, Chair Associate Professor Educational Foundations, Leadership and Technology

Stephen L. McFarland Dean Graduate School

# STUDENT AND FACULTY PERCEPTIONS OF CLINICAL TEACHING EFFECTIVENESS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BACCALAUREATE DEGREE CLINICAL

### NURSING FACULTY

Susan Posey Holmes

A Dissertation

Submitted to

the Graduate Faculty of

Auburn University

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the

Degree of

Doctor of Education

Auburn, Alabama May 11, 2006

# STUDENT AND FACULTY PERCEPTIONS OF CLINICAL TEACHING EFFECTIVENESS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BACCALAUREATE DEGREE CLINICAL

## NURSING FACULTY

Susan Posey Holmes

Permission is granted to Auburn University to make copies of this dissertation at its discretion, upon request of individuals or institutions and at their expense. The author reserves all publication rights.

Signature of Author

Date of Graduation

#### VITA

Susan Holmes, daughter of James and Florence Posey, was born March 12, 1955, in Birmingham, Alabama. She graduated from Huffman High School in 1973. She attended Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama and graduated with a Baccalaureate in Nursing Science in 1981. After working as a nurse for several years, she returned to school and received a Master's of Science in Nursing from the University of Alabama at Birmingham, with a clinical focus in Trauma, in 1991. She obtained a second Master's of Science in Nursing from the University of Alabama at Birmingham, with a clinical focus of Family Nurse Practitioner, in 1996. She began teaching in the School of Nursing at Auburn University in 1995, and continues in that role presently. She entered graduate school at Auburn University in January of 2002. She is married to John A. Holmes and has a son, Joseph James Jilek IV, and a stepdaughter, Haley M. Holmes.

#### DISSERTATION ABSTRACT

# STUDENT AND FACULTY PERCEPTIONS OF CLINICAL TEACHING EFFECTIVENESS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BACCALAUREATE DEGREE CLINICAL

NURSING FACULTY

Susan Posey Holmes

Doctor of Education, May 11, 2006 (M.S.N., University of Alabama at Birmingham, 1996) (M.S.N, University of Alabama at Birmingham, 1991) (B.S.N., Auburn University, 1981)

151 typed pages

Directed by Dr. James E. Witte

Nursing schools in the U.S. are experiencing faculty shortages that result in qualified students being turned away, a trend which has escalated since a 1992 study published by the American Association of Colleges of Nursing. In response to the increasing shortage of nursing faculty, schools of nursing have developed creative methods to fill faculty positions: one method is to supplement full-time clinical faculty with sessional or part-time clinical faculty. These part-time faculty may have little teaching experience or knowledge of higher education, but have a great deal of clinical experience (De Young & Bliss, 1995). This lack of teaching experience has caused concern for nursing educators about the quality of education provided by part-time clinical faculty (Myrick, 1991). One way to assess quality of education is to assess teacher effectiveness.

The instrument used for this study was the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) (Knox & Mogan, 1985). It consisted of 48 items grouped into five subsets: teaching ability, nursing competence, interpersonal relationships, personality of the teacher, and evaluation of students. Faculty and student respondents from two schools of nursing in the southeastern United States were surveyed to evaluate full-time and part-time clinical faculty. Results of the study showed that students did not perceive any statistically significant differences in the effectiveness of instruction provided by part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. Both students and faculty identified characteristics representative of the most effective clinical teachers, with the resulting single highest-rated survey item being "demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement" by all respondent groups. The greatest number of items representative of effective clinical teachers were clustered in the behavior category of Nursing Competence, and no items considered to represent the most effective clinical teachers were from the behavior category of Ability to Evaluate Students.

vi

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. James Witte for his guidance, practical advice, and humor throughout this process. Dr. Witte truly "practices what he preaches" for the adult learning, and this adult learner greatly appreciates his efforts and approach. Thanks also go to Dr. Maria Witte for her personal encouragement and for keeping me focused on the details. I would also like to thank Dr. Betsy Ross for her guidance in a language that is now much less foreign than I had believed possible.

I am privileged and grateful to have such wonderful colleagues and friends who have been my support, my counselors, my cheerleaders, and my sounding boards throughout this process, but their greatest value to me is their friendship. Jean, Cheryl, and Regina–you are priceless. Barbara, thank you for the editorial comments and everpositive outlook.

I am blessed to still have my wonderful parents to encourage and believe in me. Their help and love are gifts I treasure daily.

Having saved the best for last, I would like most of all to thank my wonderful husband, John, for tolerating this entire undertaking. His love, support, faith, and humor continue to keep me afloat, and I would never have gotten here without him. Style manual or journal used: <u>Publication Manual of the American Psychological</u> <u>Association, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition</u>.

Computer software used: SPSS 12.0, Windows 1998, and Microsoft Word 2003.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Statement of the Problem	4
	Purpose of the Study	4
	Research Questions	4
	Significance of the Study	5
	Limitations of the Study	6
	Assumptions of the Study	
	Definitions of Terms	8
	Organization of the Study	
II.	REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	12
	Theoretical Framework	12
	Effective Teaching	21
	Teaching Ability	25
	Professional Competence	29
	Evaluation of Students	33
	Interpersonal Relationships	35
	Personal Traits or Personality	38
	Student Evaluation of Faculty	41
	Evaluation Tools	43
	Clinical Teacher Characteristics Instrument(CTCI)	44
	Effective Clinical Teaching Behaviors (ECTB)	
	Clinical Teaching Evaluation (CTE)	48
	Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI)	49
	Summary	

ix

III.	METH	HODS		54		
		Introduct	ion	54		
		Research	Questions	55		
			5			
		Design of	f the Study			
		Populatio	on and Sample			
		-	ocedures			
		•	nt			
			llysis Procedures			
			, ,			
	IV.	FINDING	GS	67		
		Introduct	ion	67		
			nts			
		-	of Data			
		•	у			
			7			
		~~~····				
	V.	SUMMA	RY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND			
		RECOM	MENDATIONS			
		Introduct	ion			
		Summary	v of the Findings			
	Conclusions					
		Implications for Students				
	Implications for Clinical Nurse Teachers					
	Recommendations					
			/			
DEE		-				
REF	ERENCI	28				
APPI	ENDICE	S		112		
	APPE	NDIX A.	INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB)	114		
			AUBURN UNIVERSITY AT MONTGOMERY			
			IRB LETTER			
	APPE	NDIX C.	INFORMATION LETTER			
		NDIX D.	SURVEY FORM A-1 FOR STUDENT			
			EVALUATION OF PART-TIME FACULTY .	121		
	APPE	NDIX E.	SURVEY FORM A-2 FOR STUDENT			
			EVALUATION OF FULL-TIME FACULTY .			
	APPF	NDIX F.	FORM B FOR FACULTY SELF-			
			EVALUATION	137		
	APPF	NDIX G	LETTER OF PERMISSION FOR SURVEY			
	· H I L		FROM AUTHOR.	145		

# LIST OF TABLES

ple Pag	ge
1. Distribution of Student Respondents by Age	59
2. Distribution of Faculty Respondents by Age	70
3. Distribution of Study Participants by Gender	71
4. Distribution of Study Participants by Race/Ethnicity	71
5. Focus for Clinical Experiences	72
6. Highest Degree Achieved by Clinical Faculty	73
7. Years of Experience as Clinical Instructor	73
8. Nursing Credentials	74
9. Differences in Student Perceptions of Full-time and Part-time Teacher Effectiveness	76
10. Differences in Faculty Self-Perceptions of Clinical Teaching Effectiveness	77
11. Clinical Teaching Effectiveness of Full-time and part-time Faculty	78
12. Test of Homogeneity of Variance	30
13. Overall Perceptions of the Top 10 Characteristics of Effective Clinical Teachers (in order of importance)	82
14. Student Perceptions of the Top 5 Characteristics of an Effective Clinical Teacher (in order of importance)	83

	Faculty Perceptions of the Top 5 Characteristics of an Effective Clinical Teacher (in order of importance)	84
16.	Reliability Scores of Subscales and Overall NCTEI	85

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Baccalaureate education in nursing is at a critical point in its evolution. There is a current and growing shortage of nurses in the United States that is not limited to nurses in the practice areas, but extends to faculty in schools of nursing as well (Krichbaum, 1994). Faculty shortages limit nursing program enrollment, which in turn reduces the overall number of new nurses graduating each year. Nationwide in 1992, there was a faculty vacancy rate of 4.1 per cent across all types of programs preparing registered nurses (Rosenfeld, 1993), but this figure refers only to full-time faculty. A survey in 1992 of 82 per cent of the baccalaureate nursing programs in the United States, published by the American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN), revealed that 36 per cent of these schools were experiencing faculty shortages that resulted in the turning away of qualified student applicants. This trend continues today. In one baccalaureate nursing program in the Southeast, there were 231 qualified applicants for 100 openings for the fall semester of 2004, thus 131 qualified applicants were turned away, primarily due to the lack of adequate numbers of faculty to teach didactic and clinical content in the curriculum (B.S. Witt, personal communication, August 23, 2004).

The most intensive need for faculty in the baccalaureate nursing program is in the clinical component. Karuhije (1986) recognized that clinical instruction is a major responsibility of many nursing faculty, representing nearly 50 per cent of all instructional

activities. In the clinical area, the teacher of nursing is in a different position than teachers in other disciplines (Brown, 1981). The clinical teacher stands as the focal point in the student-teacher-patient relationship and must be able to instruct the student, while maintaining a safe environment for the patient, and facilitating the relationship and interactions between the student, patient, and staff (Kegel-Flom, 1983). Clinical instruction environments require the application of classroom theory to concrete clinical situations which represents real risks for students, the patients they care for and the instructors who work with them. The clinical learning process is greatly enhanced by competent clinical instructors who can assist students to integrate theory with practice and improve clinical decision-making skills (Emerson & Groth, 1996; Mogan & Warbinek, 1994; Perciful & Nester, 1996).

In order to respond to the increasing shortage of nursing faculty, schools of nursing have had to develop creative methods to fill open faculty positions: one method in extensive use is supplementing regular full-time clinical faculty with sessional or parttime clinical faculty. Between 1976 and 1994, the use of part-time faculty increased across the nation's campuses by 91 per cent (Clery, 1998). Banachowski (1996) reported that the use of part-time faculty increases institutional flexibility in matching the demands of varying enrollments and that part-time faculty bring vocational experience to the academic environment.

The problem with this approach is that although these supplemental faculty may bring a great deal of clinical experience to the program, they may have little teaching experience or knowledge of higher education (De Young & Bliss, 1995) and may simply teach as they were taught. Nurses who step into the clinical instructor role and who are

skillful practitioners are not necessarily competent teachers. Effective clinical faculty represent expertise in the arts of teaching as well as nursing skills and knowledge.

Banachowski (1996) reported that part-time faculty roles are often unclear and that adjunct faculty experience considerable role ambiguity. Wong and Wong (1987) reported that clinical faculty frequently face crises alone, without the benefit of colleagues who might be able to provide advice and assistance. This isolation may cause the part-time clinical instructor to feel vulnerable and experience the desire to withdraw from the stressful situation of clinical instruction. Many difficulties experienced in clinical teaching can be intensified with part-time clinical teachers, as these individuals are often not as versed in the curriculum, program goals and objectives as those who hold full-time clinical faculty appointments (Wong & Wong, 1987). Part-time clinical instructors usually have limited contact with their peers, program coordinators, and directors. Karuhije (1986) emphasized that clinical instruction was too important to be delegated to the least experienced and least prepared faculty, and this is happening at an alarming rate.

The increased utilization of part-time or sessional clinical faculty has caused deans and program directors in nursing education to question the quality of education provided by these individuals (Myrick, 1991). One way to assess quality of education is to assess teacher effectiveness. Karuhije (1997) asserted that quality of teaching is the single most important influence on the quality of the nursing education program: better educated nurse teachers are the key to better educated student/graduate nurses who are capable of providing high quality nursing care.

#### Statement of the Problem

Teaching in the clinical setting requires the nursing faculty member to transform theory into reality and assist students in developing clinical decision-making skills, and is an important aspect of baccalaureate nursing education. Effective learning in a clinical setting is greatly influenced by clinical faculty (Steubbe, 1980; Wong & Wong, 1987). Increased use of part-time clinical faculty who may not have previous teaching experience or knowledge may create a gap in the clinical education process and may decrease the overall quality of education a student expects to receive from a program of nursing. One way to determine the quality of education a student gains from the clinical setting is to assess the teaching effectiveness of clinical faculty.

#### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time clinical nursing faculty as compared and contrasted to full-time clinical nursing faculty, using the perceptions of students and self-perceptions of part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. Also, the characteristics identified by students, part-time nursing clinical faculty, and full-time nursing clinical faculty as being representative and desirable of effective clinical teachers were examined.

#### **Research Questions**

1. Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students to be different from part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

2. Are there differences in the self-perceptions of clinical teaching effectiveness between full-time and part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

3. Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students and faculty to be different from part-time nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

4. Are there particular characteristics that are perceived by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty, in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

#### Significance of the Study

Clinical education is an essential and critical component of baccalaureate nursing education. The learning that occurs through clinical experiences provides the student nurse with opportunities to apply classroom theory to practice. The student's ability to integrate the principles of nursing care of patients into all clinical settings will help determine the overall professional and clinical competence of the student. The quality of clinical learning is strongly dependent upon the effectiveness of the clinical teacher (Kanitsaki & Sellick, 1989). The most effective clinical teachers must be placed in the clinical learning environment to facilitate the development of baccalaureate nursing students to the highest level possible (Fong & McCauley, 1993). The characteristics and qualities that are perceived to identify the most effective clinical teachers can be

communicated to new instructors and part-time instructors in order to assist those individuals to develop skills that will lead to more effective clinical teaching behaviors. *Limitations of the Study* 

Several limitations apply to this study. They include:

 The first limitation concerns the use of student perceptions as a tool to study the characteristics of effective teaching. Students may have a variety of views of the nursing clinical faculty role and teaching experiences. Personal bias and individual preference may influence how students rate the clinical faculty.
 Students may not be aware of the different roles and responsibilities that clinical faculty hold, which may influence the results.

2. The second limitation is related to the sample size. The sample is small for the number of students but particularly small for the number of nursing clinical faculty involved. This may affect the results of the study.

3. The sample is one of convenience and not a true random sample, which may influence the results.

4. Only nursing clinical faculty and students in baccalaureate nursing programs were surveyed, and the results of the study may have been influenced by the lack of diversity of programs involved.

5. The use of a survey instrument to rate clinical teaching effectiveness may also be considered a limitation. It can be argued that there are more items or factors related to clinical teaching effectiveness than are identified on the instrument, and if the instrument did not contain all factors, the results may be influenced.

6. Data dependency is a limitation due to the inability to determine which students evaluated both full-time and part-time clinical faculty they may have had. *Assumptions* 

1. Characteristics of effective nursing clinical instruction can be identified and learned.

2. Nursing clinical faculty members play important roles in the socialization and education of baccalaureate nursing students for their practice roles.

3. Student perceptions of effective and ineffective nursing clinical instruction are valuable in the organization of faculty development efforts and in the measurement of overall quality of instruction in the clinical environment.

4. Clinical faculty are genuinely interested in improving the quality of their instruction.

5. Students participating in this study are expressing their personal opinions and are not being overly influenced by peer opinions of the nursing clinical faculty they are evaluating.

6. Clinical instruction can be effective and that effectiveness can be defined.

7. Clinical instruction differs from classroom teaching in certain characteristics, and nursing clinical faculty need to demonstrate specific teaching characteristics that are different from those of other teachers in higher education.

8. There is a positive relationship between the quality of nursing clinical instruction and the attainment of desired program outcomes by students enrolled in a baccalaureate nursing program of study.

9. Clinical instruction and experiences are similar among baccalaureate nursing programs in the United States because of the prescriptive nature of the accrediting bodies for nursing programs and the consistent policies with regard to clinical opportunities provided for students as well as established program outcome measures.

#### Definitions of Terms

*Ability to evaluate* is the type and amount of feedback the student receives from the teacher regarding clinical performance and written clinical assignments (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

*Baccalaureate nursing student* is a student enrolled in a baccalaureate program in nursing (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

*Clinical experience* is supervised clinical activities in which the student uses the knowledge he or she has acquired in the clinical and academic areas of the nursing program (Brown, 2003)

*Clinical faculty member* is a registered nurse, employed by the university, who has completed at least a baccalaureate degree in nursing and teaches baccalaureate nursing students in the clinical setting (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

*Clinical setting* is the clinical practice environment that allows the student to work toward attainment of nursing care principles and practice through care of one or more assigned patients.

*Effective clinical teaching* is defined as the actions, activities and verbalizations of the clinical faculty that facilitate student learning in the clinical setting (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

*Evaluation* is defined as student assessments that help identify problems and areas that require improvement, as well as measure progress and achievement of objectives.

*Full-time nursing clinical faculty member* is an individual who participates in at least one clinical experience day per week for at least two semesters of the academic year, and who works at an 80 per cent or greater academic appointment.

*Interpersonal relationship* is a state of reciprocal interest or communication between two or more people excluding specific therapeutic communications between nurse and patient (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

*Nursing competence* is defined as theoretical and clinical nursing knowledge and attitude toward the nursing profession (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

*Outcomes:* relates to the evidence that demonstrates the degree to which a program's purposes and objectives have been achieved, including the attainment of knowledge, skills, and competencies by students (Brown, 2003).

*Part-time nursing clinical faculty member* is an individual who participates in at least one clinical experience day per week for at least one semester of the academic year and who holds no permanent academic appointment.

*Personality* is defined as the totality of the individual's attitudes, emotional tendencies, and character traits which are not specifically related to teaching, nursing, or interpersonal relationships but may affect all three (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

*Teaching ability* refers to the process of transmission of knowledge, skills and attitudes, and the creation of an atmosphere in which this is done (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

#### Organization of the Study

Chapter I introduces the study, and presents the problem, purpose, limitations, and definition of terms used in the study. Chapter II includes a review of related literature concerning clinical teaching effectiveness, the nursing student and faculty shortage, adult education principles, and use of part-time and full-time clinical faculty in baccalaureate nursing programs in the United States. Chapter III reports the procedures used in this study, including the population and sample; instrumentation; data collection; and data analysis. The findings of the study are presented in Chapter IV. Chapter V includes a summary of the study, conclusions, implications, and recommendations for further practice and research.

### CHAPTER II

### **REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE**

#### Theoretical Framework

Clinical teaching effectiveness in nursing is demonstrated by faculty members who are considered good teachers, and becoming a good teacher is a primary goal for most clinical teachers. Anderson (1996) indicated that higher education needs good teachers, but what is also needed are good learners. Good teachers expect students to take an active role in the teaching-learning process. Anderson (1996) stipulated that nursing students are adult learners who take responsibility for their own learning, and of utmost importance is the task of producing a nursing graduate who has learned how to learn.

Frequent changes that occur in healthcare require professional nurses to continue the learning process after graduation; they cannot hope to learn all they will need to know in their educational program nor should they expect to learn everything they will need to know during their years in an education program. Graduate nurses must seek activities to develop themselves and broaden their knowledge base after graduation. Faculty who are most effective are those who see their role as one of facilitation, creating a learning environment that encourages students to ask questions and be respected as individuals (Anderson, 1996). These faculty share knowledge, assist students through the learning process, and encourage active participation by students.

There has been a long-standing effort to identify what is unique about adult learning as compared to child learning. Malcolm Knowles (1970) popularized the term andragogy, which he called the art and science of helping adults learn. The concept of pedagogy was the art and science of teaching children. Knowles brought out the critical difference between the two ideas as teaching versus helping learn. Knowles presented the idea that the point at which a person becomes an adult psychologically, is when the individual perceives himself or herself to be wholly self-directing, and because of this, adults have the need to be treated with respect, to make their own decisions, and to be seen as unique human beings. The assumptions that Knowles proposed about and ragogy were that as the individual matures and becomes an adult, that 1) the self-concept of the individual moves toward being self-directed and away from dependency, 2) experience gives the individual a learning resource and a knowledge base, 3) the individual becomes goal-oriented and needs to know how an activity will help attain certain goals, and 4) the individual is practical, and focuses on what will be most useful in work from a learning situation and that the gaining of knowledge for its own sake may not be the primary interest. These concepts, as well as statements Knowles (1970) offered about the conditions of learning, make up the principles of adult learning that provide the theoretical framework for this study.

In order to further a discussion of learning principles, it is necessary to have a working definition of what constitutes learning. Tough (1971) defined learning broadly as a sustained, highly deliberate effort to learn knowledge or a skill. Knowles (1973) gave the definition that learning is a process by which behavior is changed, shaped or controlled. Smith (1982) stated that learning is an activity of one who learns: it may be

intentional or random and may involve gaining information, skills, attitudes or values, and is often both a process and an outcome.

Certain conditions of learning, according to Knowles (1970), encourage growth and development of an individual to a greater degree than others. Knowles wrote that "These superior conditions seem to be produced by practices in the learning-teaching transaction that adhere to certain superior principles of teaching..." (1970, p. 52). These conditions of learning are: the learner feels a need to learn; the learning environment is characterized by being physically comfortable, there is mutual trust and respect in that environment, and learners feel accepted; learners perceive the goals of a learning experience to be their own goals; learners accept a share of the responsibility for planning and operating a learning experience, and because of that, they feel a commitment toward it; learners participate actively in the learning process; the learning process is related to and makes use of the experience of the learners; and learners have a sense of progress toward their own goals (Knowles, 1970).

Therefore, clinical nursing teachers who subscribe to these ideas and principles should exhibit behaviors and characteristics in their interactions with students that have an impact on the overall learning experience for the clinical nursing student, with particular emphasis on the perception of teaching effectiveness of the clinical instructor. Windsor (1987) indicated that the quality of an individual nurse's clinical practice depends upon the quality of the clinical teaching he or she experienced, and that clinical teaching was tightly woven with the personal as well as professional characteristics of the clinical teacher. It is critical that students receive quality clinical practice to enhance their learning and retention in nursing (Li, 1997).

Lieb (1991) described learning tips for effective instructors by prefacing remarks with the reminder that educators should remember that individuals learn at different speeds and for different motivations. Instructors should also remember four critical elements of learning that will ensure that individuals learn: motivation, reinforcement, retention, and transference. Motivation includes the learner's recognized need for information and the acts of the teacher to enhance the learning experience. This requires the teacher to set the tone for the learning experience, to set an appropriate level of concern on the part of both the student and the teacher, and to set an appropriate level of difficulty. Nursing students are aware of the need for information and are reminded of the critical nature of many patient care-related behaviors during clinical rotations (Dunn & Burnett, 1995; Hohler, 2003).

The second element, reinforcement, can be either positive or negative: positive reinforcement is most useful to reinforce positive behavior and is a tool used by instructors in teaching new skills; negative reinforcement is used by instructors in trying to change a behavior, or cause the extinction of a behavior (Lieb, 1991). Both positive and negative reinforcement strategies are used by clinical nursing instructors in teaching skills used during patient care procedures early and often in the learning process, and should be used later to maintain consistent and positive performance by students.

Retention of learning comes when the learner sees the meaning and purpose of the information, and it is directly affected by the amount of practice performed during the initial learning experience (Lieb, 1991). Clinical skills performed by students most often follow prescribed protocols and the correct performance of the skill each and every time it is done is imperative. Effective clinical instructors emphasize the importance of consistent, correct performance of patient care skills, and encourage the understanding, interpretation, and application of these skills.

Lieb (1991) indicated that transfer of learning is the ability to use originally taught information in a new setting, and is the result of training. Transference is both positive and negative: positive transference occurs when a learner correctly uses behaviors or skills as taught, and negative transference occurs when the learner does not do what he or she is told not to do–which results in a positive or desired outcome. Lieb goes on to assert that transference most likely occurs with association (associate new information with something already known), similarity (information revisits a known framework or pattern), when the degree of original learning was high, and when the information learned is critical or beneficial in a work setting (Lieb, 1991).

Motivation is recognized as a vital part of the learning experience. Knowles (1970) emphasized this quality when outlining both the principles and conditions for learning. Imel (1998) makes the case that readiness to learn, which is in reality the motivation to learn, frequently results from life tasks and problems that must be solved. Motivation and need, then, might even be considered one and the same for a learner (Kennedy, 2003).

A key point in considering motivation is also considering the perceived needs of the individual who comes to the learning experience (Best, 2001). The more concretely an individual can identify personal goals and aspirations, and assess his or her own competencies in relation to these, the more clearly he or she can define individual educational needs (Knowles, 1970). An educational need is the discrepancy between what an individual wants to be and what he or she is, and it is also the distance between an aspiration and a reality (Knowles, 1970). The most intensely motivated individuals are those who can clearly define their educational needs.

The idea that motivation is fundamental to most learning, particularly in adult learning situations, is also supported by Spear and Mocker (1989). These authors put forward the idea that teachers who work with adult learners must foster thinking as a major component of education, not just the transfer of information from teacher to student. Individuals must be prepared to think critically; that is, to take into account information of importance and discard the unimportant, in order to function most effectively. Spear and Mocker (1989) made the statement, "Teach (learners) how to think and they will teach themselves the facts" (p. 648) as the basic assumption in the goal of developing critical thought.

From motivation and need for learning, the conditions for optimal learning, and adult learning principles in general, one can move into the consideration of the environment for the learning experience. Knowles (1970) referred to an educative environment for adults, and described four essential characteristics of that environment: 1) respect for personality, 2) participation in decision making, 3) freedom of expression and availability of information, and 4) mutuality of responsibility in defining goals, planning and conducting activities, and evaluating. According to Knowles (1970) these characteristics are examples of democratic values and philosophy, which gives most significance to the growth of people over the accomplishment of things.

Much of the nursing education literature supports Knowles' ideas of adult learning principles and of the impact of the educative environment on the clinical teacher/nursing student relationship (Appleton, 1990; Beck, 1991; Best, 2001; Gillespie,

2002; Griffith & Bakanauskas, 1983; Halldorsdottir, 1990; Hanson & Smith, 1996; Knowles, 1970; Miller, Haber & Byrne, 1990). Gillespie (2002) summarized much of the discussion in the literature about the impact that clinical teachers have on nursing students as being a positive student-teacher connection that optimally fosters the growth of the student. The qualities of this connected relationship are caring, knowing, trusting, respecting and mutuality. In addition, the connected nursing clinical teacher's way of being and teaching result in an environment where students feel affirmed and supported to grow toward their potential as individuals, learners, and nurses. The student-teacher connection influences the focus and scope of a nursing student's learning, and ultimately the development of a professional nursing identity (Gillespie, 2002). In studying the qualities of the connected clinical teacher/nursing student relationship, it is clearly seen that the principles of adult learning, from Knowles' (1970) position, are emphasized strongly. The connected clinical teacher has developed an educative environment for nursing students that gives greatest emphasis to the growth of each student rather than completion of tasks or skills.

Nursing educators continue to elaborate on the general adult learning principles that Knowles outlined when they approach clinical teaching or when they are developing their individual clinical teaching styles. Melrose (2004) presented a list of practical and effective strategies that clinical teachers for undergraduate nursing students might use with success, as seen through student eyes: 1) identify barriers that students face by looking at the clinical environment through their eyes and questioning who the students are and what challenges and anxieties they face, 2) consider student learning styles and provide opportunities for students to identify personal preferences in learning, 3) plan activities collaboratively with students, and provide choices for students that allow clinical goals to be met in a variety of ways, 4) create a learning community by encouraging a sense of belonging for students between themselves, the clinical teacher, and the clinical staff nurses, 4) research the characteristics that have been identified in the literature as exemplifying the most effective clinical teacher and model these characteristics in the student-teacher relationship, 5) provide evaluation activities that are individualized toward students, and that help sustain motivation and recognition of strengths as well as areas in which to grow. Exploring what the most effective clinical teaching approaches look like from the perspectives of both students and teachers, and seeking to understand the points of view of the student and the clinical nursing teacher is vital (Melrose, 2004).

Self-perceptions of the quality and effectiveness of clinical nurse teachers are varied. Forrest, Brown and Pollock (1996) reported that nurse teachers were generally unclear about the nature of the role they should fulfill in the clinical area, but most felt that the role should be diverse and flexible. From a comprehensive literature review of the different roles of the clinical teacher in nursing undertaken by Lee (1996), the role of the nurse teacher appeared to be implicit and hidden, with a wide interpretation of the extent, purpose and nature of the role. Elaborating on the roles for the clinical nursing teacher, Ferguson (1996) affirmed that clinical educators in nursing talk most about the challenges of preparing students for future roles, encouraging them to become lifelong learners and fostering a desire for clinical excellence, and these are challenges that Knowles (1980) discussed in the context of working with the adult learner. The value of clinical teaching was highlighted by Kost, Chalko and Vinten (2004) when they emphasized that the changing healthcare environment is increasingly complex and requires a different nurse today than at any time previous, and because of these changes, finding comfort in the role of clinical faculty is a long process.

The thread that runs most consistently throughout past and present opinions about the most effective clinical teachers in nursing is that they treat students as adult learners, and emphasis is consistently on the principles of teaching adult learners. Selfdirectedness is the quality that adult learners most exhibit, and it is the focal point for constructing adult learning experiences that have the greatest meaning and value for nursing students, since nursing students are adult learners. Knowles' principles of adult learning and ideas of andragogy are apropos to the purpose of this study.

Authors of studies not specific to nursing have discussed outcomes of student evaluation of teacher effectiveness and data have shown that these outcomes are influenced by both the age and experience of the student-evaluator (Koon & Murray, 1995; Smith & Cranton, 1992). Older students or those who have more life experiences have been found to be less critical of the teacher's ability to evaluate, while being more concerned with the clinical teacher's ability to relate to them as individuals and make more practical application of theoretical concepts, which fits the concept of the typical adult learner Knowles outlined in 1970. Rice (1992) emphasized that nursing students today are very different from previous decades, with the typical baccalaureate nursing student twenty-five years ago being a recent high school graduate, single, female, and a resident of a nurses' dormitory. Today, in addition to traditional college students, there are large numbers of mature students who already have a diploma or associate degree in nursing, and much life and work experience–again fitting the picture presented by Knowles (1970) of the adult learner.

The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time clinical nursing faculty as compared and contrasted to full-time clinical nursing faculty, using the perceptions of students and self-perceptions of part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. In addition, the characteristics identified by students, part-time clinical nursing faculty and full-time clinical nursing faculty as being representative and desirable of effective clinical teachers were examined. The following review of literature will explore concepts related to clinical teaching effectiveness, previously identified categories of effective clinical teaching behaviors, and will describe tools that have been used to measure nursing clinical teacher effectiveness.

#### *Effective Teaching*

An ability to teach effectively is the most important quality that an educator may possess. Effective teachers use a variety of approaches and techniques when working with students, and specific skills that demonstrate effective teaching may be difficult to identify (de Tornyay, 1984; Morton, 1987). Meleca, Schimpfhauser, Witteman, and Sachs (1981) asserted that, in the delivery of clinical instruction, the most common theme that appears is "diversity". Each teacher uses a variety of methods and strategies to help students put classroom theory into practice, based on what has been that teacher's background and experience.

Barham (1965) was one of the first researchers in nursing to initiate an interest in effective teaching. Barham's general objective was to identify behavior which differentiated between effective and ineffective nursing instructors in the junior community colleges of California. In addition, the behaviors were given a frequency tally to determine how many times the teaching behaviors were reported and to determine the variability among the resource groups. The critical incident technique was used for this study, a procedure which involved asking respondents to describe a behavioral situation or incident that illustrated effective or ineffective teaching behavior. Data reported by Barham in 1965 were collected from thirteen associate degree nursing programs in the state of California, with the 178 respondents including program directors, faculty members, and students. A total of 362 critical incidents, consisting of effective and ineffective teaching behaviors, were identified. Teaching behavior was described in the classroom as well as clinical areas, with almost two-thirds of the behaviors occurring in the clinical area. Barham concluded that effective teaching was demonstrated by a teacher who did not let anxiety influence a situation, who recognized his or her own personal limitations, demonstrated understanding of students by being available to them in all situations, who provided understandable explanations and who had the ability to stimulate the desire to learn in nursing students.

In a further use of the critical incident technique, Jacobson (1966) identified categories of behaviors from 85.57 per cent (961 individuals) of the undergraduate nursing student responses in five southern university schools that were most indicative of effective teachers in nursing. From the data, six categories were derived: availability to students, apparent general knowledge and professional competence, interpersonal relations with students and others, teaching practices in classroom and clinical areas, personal characteristics, and evaluation practices (Jacobson, 1966). This was one of the

earliest documented uses of specific categories of behaviors exemplifying the effective nursing teacher.

Kiker (1973) identified similar categories to those cited by Jacobson (1966), with the addition of a discussion of the importance of being an effective role model. Kiker's exploratory study of the characteristics most essential to effective teachers in general indicated that students needed to have a teacher who could function as a role model and who could demonstrate the skills, attitudes, and values that students hoped to develop. Respondents included 30 undergraduate education students, 37 undergraduate nursing students, and 36 graduate nursing students. Personal attributes of the teacher were felt to be the least essential quality for the good teacher by all groups of students in this study (Kiker, 1973).

Effective clinical teachers demonstrate specific teaching behaviors, including the ability to diagnose student learning needs, plan instruction based on student learning needs, and effectively supervise students to maximize the clinical learning experience (Gignac-Caille & Oermann, 2001). In a study reported by Gignac-Caille and Oerman (2001), 292 student respondents at various levels in five associate nursing degree programs in the state of Michigan, and 59 faculty respondents from the same programs were asked to identify the most important characteristics of an effective clinical teacher. There was agreement between both the nursing students and faculty on six of the top ten characteristics ranked as most important. Students felt that demonstrating competent clinical skills and judgment was most important, while faculty felt that explaining clearly was the single most important characteristic of an effective clinical teacher. Both groups

agreed that the least important characteristic of the effective clinical nursing instructor was directing students to useful literature in nursing (Gignac-Caille & Oermann, 2001).

Zimmerman and Waltman (1986) found through a review of literature, that the characteristics of effective teaching could not be explained by only one or two teaching behaviors, and that many characteristics–both specific and categorical–promoted effective teaching. Through various studies, the many characteristics have essentially been grouped and have most often included the categories of: Teaching Ability, Professional Competence, Evaluation of Students, Interpersonal Relationships, and Personal Traits/Personality (Jacobson, 1966, Knox & Mogan, 1985, Mogan & Knox, 1983, 1987). A discussion of each of these categories will follow.

#### *Teaching Ability*

An effective teacher must have developed expertise in the ability to teach (Darling-Hammond, Wise, & Pease, 1983). Ahern (1999) further asserted that an effective clinical nursing teacher should be diverse and flexible in the ability and approach to teaching. The ability to teach includes the skills utilized in transmitting knowledge and skills as well as attitudes from the teacher to the student (Darling-Hammond, Wise, & Pease, 1983; Mogan & Knox, 1983). The ability to develop a student-focused, encouraging environment that fosters student learning is also a quality of teaching ability (Massarweh, 1999; Rideout, 1994).

The theories of andragogy and experiential learning underpin the role of teacher and teaching ability (Owen, 1993). Teachers must possess a solid foundation of knowledge from which to practice, and serve as a facilitator to help develop self-directed, independent learning in others. Genuineness and empathetic understanding are essential qualities for a clinical nursing teacher, and should be evident in relationships that are developed with clinical staff (Owen, 1993). The teacher of clinical nursing is a resource who provides practical help and support for students and peers, and who acknowledges the importance of role modeling for both groups.

Smith and Cranton (1992) surveyed a sample of 42,407 non-nursing students for ratings of teacher behaviors. From a set of 20 teaching skills, four factors were identified: Interest and Atmosphere, Organization and Clarity, Evaluation, and Discussion. The first two of these factors related directly to teaching ability, including items that described teacher-inspired interest in course materials and creating an atmosphere that was conducive to learning. These first two factors made up 72 per cent of the variance in teaching effectiveness.

Techniques used to teach effectively and the decisions of how and when to use various techniques make up the broad category of teaching ability. There are recognized overlaps of Teaching Ability and Professional Competence, as well as Teaching Ability and Personal Traits or Personality (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990; Brown, 1981). Brown (1981) recruited 82 senior nursing students and 42 faculty from one baccalaureate nursing program in North Carolina to provide their perceptions of the characteristics exhibited by effective clinical nursing teachers. Nursing students indicated that they felt the clinical instructor's relationship with them was more important than professional competence, while nursing faculty felt that relating underlying theory to nursing practice was most important for a clinical nursing teacher. For students, this is the overlap of Teaching Ability and Personal Traits. The overlap of Teaching Ability and Professional Competence was seen in the responses of faculty, who felt that professional competence was of greatest importance in a clinical teacher (Brown, 1981).

Bergman and Gaitskill (1990) surveyed 11 sophomore, 77 junior and 46 senior nursing students, as well as 23 faculty members in a baccalaureate nursing program in Ohio. Their results revealed that both students and faculty agreed that instructor-student relationships held the greatest value in being an effective clinical nursing teacher, so the category of Interpersonal Relationships was rated higher with this study (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990).

Social work student evaluations of what characteristics exemplified the most effective teachers were collected for a 1998 study, the results of which were reported by Jirovec, Ramanathan and Alvarez. Student evaluations from 275 courses were analyzed using eight scales which assessed dimensions of faculty teaching ability. These scales included items about faculty rapport with students, faculty organization of lectures and materials, and faculty evaluation and grading of students. Course variables included class size, whether the course was required or an elective, whether the course was for undergraduate or graduate students, and the type of curricular area covered by the course. Students recorded responses on a 7-point scale ranging from "excellent" to "poor". Results revealed that teaching effectiveness was closely related to concrete, identifiable teaching skills (Jirovec, Ramanathan & Alvarez, 1998). The instructor's organization, grading and rapport skills were positively correlated with overall teaching scores, with organizational skill being the key predictor of how effective the teacher was felt to be. These researchers found that almost 78 per cent of the variance in teacher evaluation was explained by organization skills (Jirovec, Ramanathan & Alvarez, 1998).

Armington, Reinikka, and Creighton (1972) prepared a questionnaire designed to evaluate the effectiveness of the nursing instructor from a student perspective. Twenty randomly selected Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) programs throughout the United States were included in the study. A total of 1,953 junior and senior nursing students in these BSN programs gave highest ratings on items that addressed organizational skills, demonstrating excitement and enthusiasm for his or her work, encouragement of student thinking, and imaginative approach to teaching. Students also cited the teacher's availability and time spent with them as individuals as important (Armington, Reinikka, & Creighton, 1972).

Three undergraduate nursing programs in Melbourne, Australia were surveyed by Kanitsake and Sellick (1989) in order to identify the behaviors that student nurses saw as most important to the role of the clinical teacher. Student perceptions of the clinical teacher were collected from 402 undergraduate nursing students, and were measured using twenty clinical teacher behaviors reported in an earlier study which were considered by student nurses to be helpful to their learning. The underlying assumption of the study was that student expectations of the clinical teacher would be a major determinant of the quality of clinical learning experiences. However, students were found to consider all behaviors important. The behaviors included: the role of the clinical teacher, demonstrating nursing, applying theory to practice, preparing students to function in the clinical setting and evaluating student performance. Students as a whole regarded the teaching role as more important than guidance, being a role model, applying theory to practice or evaluation of student performance (Kanitsake & Sellick, 1989).

Scanlan (2001) explored the perceptions of novice and expert clinical nursing teachers through narrative descriptions of the clinical teacher role. Scanlan's study was exploratory and descriptive, but used only five expert and five novice clinical teachers in nursing. Findings from this study revealed that the novice and expert groups of clinical teachers had different conceptualizations of effective clinical teaching that was largely based on experience as teachers (Scanlan, 2001). The novice group, in working with students caring for patients, tended to focus on the patient since their base of reference was limited to their own nursing experiences. This group also used trial and error as a primary teaching strategy since they were unsure of what was best practice in developing nursing students. Expert clinical teachers had a broader focus that allowed consideration of both the patient and the student. Experts used strategies in teaching that demonstrated less ambiguity and a deeper understanding of what they did as teachers and why. Scanlan (2001) asserted that the results should be used to assist novice clinical teachers to develop strategies that facilitated growth and confidence in their individual teaching abilities.

Effective teaching and teaching ability for the clinical nursing teacher are important characteristics in determining who the most effective clinical teachers are, but the issue of clinical credibility or professional competence weighs heavily in the evaluation equation (Kirschling, et al., 1995). For a clinical teacher of nursing, clinical expertise cannot be over-emphasized, and will be discussed in detail.

### Professional Competence

Jarvis (1992) asserted that practitioners have to have professional expertise which combines three elements: knowledge appropriate to the role, knowledge of how to perform the role, and the skills to act appropriately in the professional context. The author implied that professional competence, then, is about acting in a professional capacity with knowledge, expertise, and appropriate attitudes and values.

Professional credibility may also be termed professional competence (Turgeon, 1987). Fawcett and McQueen (1994) expressed the idea that a nurse teacher, by maintaining and constantly improving clinical skills, keeping up to date with technological advances, and participating in the on-going developments in the field of nursing can feel affirmation of individual professional credibility. These researchers also recognized that teaching in a classroom and teaching in a clinical area were mutually beneficial: work in each area informed facets of the other and were symbiotic in nature (Fawcett & McQueen, 1994).

Professional competence has been defined by several authors to be the teacher's knowledge base in the subject matter being taught (Brown, 1981; Collinson, 1999; Parker & Magnensen, 1986). In academic fields that require a clinical component, professional competence also includes the ability to perform the skills and demonstrate behaviors appropriate for the practitioner of that discipline (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990; Brown, 1981; Mogan & Knox, 1983). Both teachers and students have been found to agree that professional competence is essential to be considered an effective teacher (Collinson, 1999; Parker & Magnensen, 1986).

Clinical credibility, a term used interchangeably with professional competence, has been argued to be as important as educational credibility in teachers of nursing (Dale, 1994; Lee, 1996). Lee (1996) undertook a comprehensive review of literature to examine the role of the clinical nurse teacher and how the teacher impacts student learning, and found that there is a wide range of interpretation of the extent, purpose, and nature of the clinical teaching role. If nursing teachers do not participate in the practice they teach and do not have a well-developed ability to utilize theory within the practice environment, these teachers will not be able to facilitate the development and growth of nursing students (Davis, 1989; Jinks, 1991; Seigel, 1984). Nursing, as a practice-based discipline, requires that clinical teachers be able to make this link for students. Staff members on patient care units should also be able to recognize the clinical expertise of the nurse teacher and should feel supported by the clinical nursing teacher in helping create a positive learning environment for students.

Owen (1993) proposed a model of multi-dimensional roles that described the critical characteristics of a professional clinical teacher and provided direction for nurse teachers in the clinical area. Three roles were explored: the teacher role that assumes a sound knowledge base from which to practice and has the teacher as a resource to provide practical help and role modeling; the change catalyst role, which enables the teacher to manage both change and resistance to change effectively; and the researcher role, which should cause the teacher to reflect upon and evaluate his or her own teaching and practice (Owen, 1993). The ability to conduct research and utilize research findings in practice were seen as essential to the clinical teacher.

The opinion provided by students in a study reported by Forrest, Brown and Pollock (1996) was that the most effective teachers of clinical nursing had the greatest amount of clinical experience, which gives emphasis to the characteristic of clinical credibility. Besides the 30 student nurses who participated, 12 nurse-teachers and 12 charge nurses were interviewed to determine what they perceived as the real and ideal role of the clinical nurse teacher. From the student respondents, it was determined that nurse teachers were valued when acting as a source of personal support for students, and the clinical teacher significantly helped students reflect on their own practice by being a mentor. However, the interesting result that emerged from the data was that nurse teachers were the most confused about their clinical role; they seemed to define their clinical role in terms of whether they defined themselves as either primarily nurses or as teachers, with a focus on theoretical concepts or skill development (Forrest, Brown & Pollock, 1996).

Studies have supported the belief that professional competence is an important element of effective teaching (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990; Brown, 1981; Mogan & Knox, 1983). However, different groups rank professional competence differently in respect to importance. These groups included senior level baccalaureate nursing students, faculty, and students who were already registered nurses returning to school.

Brown (1981) developed a twenty-item questionnaire to identify characteristics that exemplified effective teaching, called the Clinical Teacher Characteristics Instrument (CTCI). Eighty-two senior level BSN students and 42 faculty from a university in North Carolina were study participants. Three categories were used to group the characteristics: professional competence, relationships with students, and personal attributes. The category of professional competence included such characteristics as showing genuine interest in patients and their care, being well informed and being able to communicate knowledge to students (Brown, 1981). Faculty found items in the category of professional competence to be the most important, while students identified the faculty member's relationship with students to be most important, and

professional competence as second in importance. Both groups ranked personal attributes as least important.

Somewhat different results were found by Bergman and Gaitskill (1990) when they replicated Brown's (1981) study, targeting faculty and students from a BSN program located at another university. Twenty-three faculty and 11 sophomore, 77 junior and 46 senior student respondents rated the faculty member's relationship with students first, professional competence second, and personal attributes third.

Mogan and Knox (1983) used an evaluation form that asked students to rate the overall performance of teachers. First through fourth year students at a Canadian university were included in the study, with responses collected from 335 students evenly distributed across the four years of the nursing program. All student responses could be grouped into five categories, one of which was nursing competence. This quality was defined as theoretical and clinical nursing knowledge and attitude toward the nursing profession. From student comments, it appeared that students valued instructors who were expert clinicians and good role models. However, the most frequent student comments referred to the instructor's ability to teach, and nursing competence was found to rank second to teaching ability (Mogan & Knox, 1983). From the analysis of characteristics found through this study, Knox and Mogan (1985) developed the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), which will be described later. *Evaluation of Students* 

Another component of teaching effectiveness has been identified as the evaluation of students (Mogan & Knox, 1983; O'Shea & Parsons, 1979; Sieh & Bell, 1994). Evaluation of students includes the amount of feedback students receive, whether feedback is verbal or written, and the faculty member's ability or skill in grading the student (Mogan & Knox, 1983). The most effective teachers are able to correct students by using honest, constructive and positive feedback (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990; O'Shea & Parsons, 1979). Evaluation practices found to be ineffective include providing insufficient feedback, providing only negative feedback, returning student papers late, and setting expectations poorly (O'Shea & Parsons, 1979).

Sieh and Bell (1994) found evaluation skill to be the most important characteristic of the effective teacher. The researchers surveyed Associate Degree Nursing (ADN) students and faculty in two programs in the southwest United States in a study designed to examine perceptions of effective clinical teachers. Responses from 22 faculty and 199 students rated evaluation as the most important subset of five categories of behaviors: teaching ability, professional competence, evaluation of students, interpersonal relationships, and personal traits. Students ranked the other characteristics in order of importance to be: interpersonal relationships, teaching ability, nursing competence, and personality traits, but faculty ranked the remaining characteristics in order of importance as interpersonal relationships, nursing competence, and ranked personality traits and teaching ability equally (Sieh & Bell, 1994).

In contrast, studies completed by Smith and Cranton (1992) and Jirovec, Ramanathan and Alvarez (1998) found that the ability to evaluate students was a dimension of teaching effectiveness, but a much smaller percent of the variance in teaching effectiveness was accounted for by evaluation: Smith and Cranton (1992) reported 17 percent and Jirovec et al. (1998) reported only four percent. It may be significant to note that neither of these studies were undertaken with nursing students.

### Interpersonal Relationships

Teaching requires a relationship between faculty and students. Walsh and Maffei (1994) indicated that there was a profound social dimension to teaching, and that the quality of the relationship built between faculty member and student may determine to a great degree what the final outcome of the teaching effort will be. A positive relationship between faculty and student may cause both parties to achieve a more enjoyable educational experience, it may improve the faculty evaluation done by students, and such a relationship may enhance student learning (Walsh & Maffei, 1994).

Walsh and Maffei (1994) developed a survey composed of 46 closed-ended items designed to assess the extent to which students and faculty viewed faculty behaviors as contributing to or detracting from the student-faculty relationship. A convenience sample of 295 students and 116 faculty responded to the survey, and ranked the items on a Likert-type scale. Students identified behaviors that greatly enhanced the student-faculty relationship as: treating students equally without regard to race or sex, learning individual student names quickly, being patient in explaining things, treating students as equals, and displaying a friendly demeanor. Students also identified behaviors that greatly detracted from the student-faculty relationship: failing to keep posted office hours, and offering little explanation for grading procedures. Faculty responses attributed slightly greater importance to evaluation activities as an influence on the student-faculty relationship, but most of the behaviors identified by students as especially important were also found among the faculty members' top choices (Walsh & Maffei, 1994).

Brown (1981), in a study previously cited, using both nursing faculty and students, found that baccalaureate nursing students regarded the instructor's relationship with students as more important than professional competence. The student group also rated several items as more important than did faculty: supervises without taking over, is self-controlled, is patient, and permits freedom of discussion and venting of feelings. (Brown, 1981). An instructor could significantly inhibit the student's willingness and ability to learn by producing fear and anxiety in the student. By developing a relationship with the student, demonstrating greater interest in the student's needs and problems and a willingness to enhance the communication process, the faculty member will increase his or her individual clinical teaching effectiveness.

Mogan and Knox (1983) reported that students saw effective nursing faculty as being supportive, helpful, approachable and non-threatening. First through fourth year baccalaureate students criticized intimidating and nonsupportive behavior most often. First year students stated that they would like a more supportive teacher, and fourth year students identified respect from a teacher as more important (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

Increased hours of contact with a nursing teacher in the clinical setting resulted in a more positive perception of that teacher, both in the clinical setting and the classroom setting (Dawson, 1986). In a study reported by Dawson, students used an evaluation tool that consisted of six items that measured nursing clinical teaching effectiveness as well as classroom teaching effectiveness, and rated the items on a five-point Likert-type scale. The six items focused on the interpersonal relationships that faculty developed with students, such as: encouraging independent thinking and learning, and makes students feel free to ask questions or ask for help. Three hundred forty-one students in a particular course rated four nursing faculty, one of whom was their clinical instructor, using the six-item survey. Clinical instructors spent a minimum of 45 hours during an individual clinical day with their assigned groups during community and home visit rotations. Results showed that the impressions or feelings that students developed about the clinical instructor appeared to carry over into the classroom. The ratings a clinical instructor received from the clinical group were a good predictor of the ratings received as a classroom teacher. Getting to know and like a teacher may color a student's perception of that individual's teaching effectiveness. Thus, the quality of interpersonal relationships does have an impact on student ratings of teacher effectiveness (Dawson, 1986).

The effect of student-teacher relationships on nursing student clinical outcomes was analyzed by Dunn, Stockhausen, Thornton, and Barnard (1995). They reported results of a qualitative study in Australia that was originated to determine curricular changes needed for clinical rotations in one baccalaureate nursing program. Interpersonal relationships were a dependent variable measured by a tool used for their study, and interpersonal relationships emerged as a primary theme of the data as well. Student interactions with clinical instructors, staff nurses and patients were evaluated from the responses of 64 second and third year BSN students, based on varied amounts of time spent on a hospital unit and with specific instructors and staff. Clinical rotations for two groups were consistent and predictable, with clinical experiences occurring on a weekly basis, while two other groups only had clinical rotations every two weeks, broken up by holidays and school breaks. Students gave higher evaluations to the

experiences that were more consistent and allowed development of interpersonal relationships on a unit and with individuals (Dunn, et al., 1995). Students gave comments that supported the idea that consistency and continuity allowed them to build rapport and trust with staff and instructors, and allowed them to develop confidence in themselves, which returns to the ideas of adult learning espoused by Malcolm Knowles (1970). Building a supportive relationship that encourages self-direction and thus selfconfidence, is a foundational concept in working with the adult learner.

### Personal Traits or Personality

The last category of teaching effectiveness is personal traits or personality. The traits that have been included are: attitudes, emotional tendencies, and individual character traits that make up the personality of the teacher (Mogan & Knox, 1983). A difficulty in conducting research that relates teaching effectiveness to personality is how to measure personality traits. Some researchers have used the approach of having faculty describe their own individual personality traits, asking faculty to describe personality traits of peers, and asking students to describe or identify personality traits of faculty (Feldman, 1986; Hopkins, 1999; Varassi, 1989; Wilson, 1994). This leads to the consideration that identifying personal interpretation (O'Shea & Parsons, 1979). Personality or personal traits are not strongly related to overall ratings of teaching effectiveness (O'Shea & Parsons, 1979; Feldman, 1986;Frontczak, 1999; Sieh & Bell, 1994; White, 1997) but are still important factors to consider.

Kegel-Flom (1983) reported findings from a study of non-nursing full and part time faculty in a school of optometry, correlating personal traits and teaching effectiveness ratings. Instructors were asked to describe and rate themselves as teachers, to describe and rate one or two colleagues with whom they had been associated in a clinical setting, and to complete a personality inventory. Students were also asked to rate these instructors using the same form faculty used for self-evaluation, without the personality inventory component. Results from the 51 faculty respondents and 48 undergraduate students indicated that highly rated clinical instructors shared certain measurable personality traits. Students, colleagues, and teachers themselves were asked to identify the personal qualities they associated with good teaching. Two groups of teachers were evaluated: one group of 23 teachers who had taught less than four years, and one group of 28 teachers who had taught from 4 to 32 years, with a mean of 11.4 years. Differences were noted between the two groups: the highest-rated characteristics for the novice teachers were dependability, self-confidence, and being sociable, helpful, diligent, and responsible, while veteran teachers had ratings that valued conventionality, sincerity, being conscientious and cautious. Top teachers across both groups were distinguished by greater initiative, self-confidence, independence of spirit and drive to achieve (Kegel-Flom, 1983).

O'Shea and Parsons (1979) reported results where study participants most often identified the personal characteristics of being supportive, concerned, understanding, friendly, and enthusiastic as facilitating clinical learning. Responses were gathered from 205 students and 24 faculty in a baccalaureate nursing program in the southeastern United States. Students were asked to identify three to five behaviors that facilitated their learning in the clinical setting, and an equal number that hindered learning in the clinical area. Faculty were also asked to list behaviors they believed facilitated or interfered with student learning in the clinical setting. Findings supported the idea that it was easier to list facilitative than interference behaviors for the majority of students and faculty. Three broad categories of teacher behaviors were identified: evaluative behaviors, instructive/assistive behaviors, and personal characteristics (O'Shea & Parsons, 1979). The personal characteristics identified as being most interfering to the clinical learning process were: being authoritarian, intimidating, condescending, formal and criticizing in the presence of others.

Personal traits seem to be more significant to students who were already registered nurses (RNs) returning for a baccalaureate degree, as reported in a study by Rice (1992) than has been reported in other nursing students. Rice used personal experience and observations from eight years of teaching to identify strategies and personal characteristics that enhance learning for RN students, and all incorporate the principles of adult learning as outlined by Knowles (1970). Strategies and personal characteristics included the instructor's personal knowledge of students and their coping methods in stressful situations, flexibility and compromise, construction of participative learning experiences, developing problem-solving abilities in students, creating a mutually respectful and non-threatening environment for learning, and to genuinely appreciate contribution of knowledge and skills of other nurses to the learning situation (Rice, 1992).

In an interesting reversal, Jacono and Jacono (1995) identified negative teacher characteristics that have an impact on teaching through review of literature and personal observations and experiences. These negative characteristics included vanity, defined as excessive pride in one's accomplishments, ability or appearance; perfectionism, which

referred to the tendency to set extremely high standards; interference, or the act of impeding or being an obstacle; and insensitivity, or a difficulty with awareness. The authors concluded that teachers of nursing should self-analyze personal traits, and be aware of negative behaviors and traits that might negatively impact the teaching-learning environment.

A sense of humor was found by Kiker (1973) as essential to an instructor of nursing, but this characteristic was ranked slightly higher by junior nursing students than by senior nursing students. Two Texas universities were the sites for data collection from a total of 30 undergraduate education students, 37 undergraduate nursing students, and 36 graduate nursing students. The researcher put forth the idea that a sense of humor may be viewed as more important by students in a clinical setting to allay anxieties. Personal attributes was one of three categories evaluated by students, with the other two categories being professional competence and relationships with students. Personal attributes were ranked as least essential for the good teacher by all students (Kiker, 1973).

#### Student Evaluation of Faculty

Measurement of effective teaching has been examined using both faculty and student evaluations (Brown, 1981; Collinson, 1999; Smith & Cranton, 1992; Walsh & Maffei, 1994), but student evaluation continues to be the most utilized. de Tornyay (1984) asserted that faculty consider the evaluation of teaching a more personal measure than any other aspect of a faculty role. Some researchers (Angelo & Cross, 1993; Fong & McCauley, 1993) considered that students are usually in the best position to judge effectiveness of clinical instructors, and that even though there is disagreement concerning the quality of evaluation instruments (Morton, 1987), there is significant agreement among nursing instructors, students and administrators that students should evaluate their instructors.

Gien (1991) indicated that student ratings of faculty teaching effectiveness were reliable and valid when collected in a standardized and objective manner. Stith, Butterfield, Strube, Deusinger, and Gillespie (1998) supported the idea of student evaluations of clinical experiences, and emphasized that student satisfaction with clinical education is particularly important to the healthcare profession since clinical education impacts greatly on choice of practice area and the selection of a work setting later.

Student perceptions of which instructional behaviors are helpful allow instructors to create a learning environment that facilitates student learning (Pugh, 1988). Students judge which behaviors they choose to practice and are important (Wiseman, 1994) and these judgments contribute greatly to the perception of a faculty member's competence among colleagues and administrators (Jirovec, Ramanathan & Alvarez, 1998).

Lingering questions remain about using student evaluations of teaching effectiveness, even though this is the most common method recognized to measure the concept. Students may not have sufficient knowledge to evaluate teaching effectiveness, or they may not understand fully the purposes of the evaluation process (Morton, 1987). In a class with small numbers of students, evaluations by only a few students can affect the measurement of a teacher's effectiveness (Wood & Matthewman, 1988). In contrast, Koon and Murray (1995) noted that few of the objections raised for questioning validity of student evaluations of teaching performance present important challenges to the validity of student ratings. Student evaluations usually have two purposes: to determine the student's opinion of the quality of instruction, and to determine what the student has learned (Abrami, d'Apollonia, & Cohen, 1990). The purpose of an evaluation should clearly indicate the tool to be used. It is also important to use an evaluation tool that is most closely matched with the situation to be studied. Evaluation tools that are used for classroom or general education courses should not be used in a clinical setting, since the skills and activities in a clinical environment differ greatly from those in a classroom (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

Student evaluations are still used as valuable input by clinical nursing instructors, and changes in the ways clinical nursing teachers approach student learning situations reflect the incorporation of student comments. There are several tools used to evaluate clinical nursing teacher and teaching effectiveness, and the most often recognized and utilized tools will be discussed here.

### **Evaluation Tools**

Several evaluation instruments have been developed to rate clinical nursing teaching effectiveness, using characteristics identified as being representative of effective teaching (Barham, 1965; Brown, 1981; Fong & McCauley, 1993; Jacobson, 1966; Knox & Mogan, 1985; Mogan & Knox, 1987; O'Shea & Parsons, 1979; Zimmerman & Westfall, 1988). Several instruments have been reported in the literature as valuable: the Clinical Teacher Characteristic Instrument (CTCI) developed by Brown and reported in 1981, the Effective Teaching Clinical Behaviors (ETCB) developed by Zimmerman and Westfall (1988), the Clinical Teaching Evaluation (CTE) (Fong & McCauley, 1993) and the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) (Knox & Mogan, 1985). Through the use of these instruments, characteristics of effective clinical nursing faculty have been identified and measured.

#### Clinical Teacher Characteristics Instrument

In 1981, Brown reported the development of the Clinical Teaching Characteristics Instrument. The tool was developed to compare perceptions of clinical faculty and students, using 20 characteristics of teachers identified through a review of the nursing literature. The first section of the tool used a Likert-type scale in the questionnaire to rate 20 characteristics, with the scale ranging from "of most importance" to "of no importance". The second section instructed respondents to choose the five most important characteristics of a clinical instructor, and rank them in order of importance. Brown administered the tool to 82 senior nursing students and 42 faculty members at a North Carolina school of nursing. Through data analysis, Brown determined that the nursing faculty and students were congruent in their description of the effective clinical teacher.

Responses were classified by Brown (1981) into three categories: professional competence, relationship with students, and personal attributes. The category of professional competence included nine items that rate the ability of the instructor to facilitate an awareness of professional responsibility among students and to show a sincere interest in patient care. Six items fell under the category of the instructor's relationship with students, which related to the instructor's ability to show confidence in and respect for students. The third category of personal attributes included five items that assessed the instructor's sense of humor, enthusiasm, and flexibility.

Results of Brown's study (1981) indicated that students surveyed ranked relationships with students as first, professional competence second, and personal attributes third. Faculty ranked professional competence as first, relationships with students as second, and personal attributes third. The difference in these group results were not considered statistically significant (Brown, 1981).

The CTCI was used by Bergman and Gaitskill in 1990 to determine whether the previous findings remained valid, and to investigate whether the perception of effective teaching behavior changed as a student progressed toward graduation from the junior to senior level. These authors administered the CTCI to baccalaureate nursing students in a college of nursing in southwestern Ohio, with 134 students and 23 faculty members as respondents. In comparing results to Brown's work, Bergman and Gaitskill (1990) found that there was a high level of congruity between student and teacher perceptions of effective teacher characteristics; however, the findings were the inverse of Brown's: students identified instructor-student relationships as most important, as did faculty respondents. Both groups valued the student-faculty relationship over professional competence or personal attributes of the instructor. There was no change in the views of students as they matured (Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990).

#### *Effective Clinical Teaching Behaviors*

Zimmerman and Westfall (1988) described the development and validation of an instrument that was designed to measure effective clinical teaching behaviors of nursing faculty, which the authors called the Effective Clinical Teaching Behaviors (ECTB) scale. The authors determined that, although numerous authors had identified major categories of behaviors and specific behaviors that were reflective of effective clinical

instruction, no attempt had been made to "reveal the dimensions of clinical teaching through factor analysis of student evaluations" (Zimmerman & Westfall, 1988, p. 274). The authors determined that since students are the direct recipients of instruction, it was important that students have a valid and reliable tool available to evaluate that instruction.

The 43 items on the ECTB were ranked by respondents on a 3-point Likert-type scale, from "not important" to "very important", and the behaviors were then rated for frequency of observation on a scale of 1 (never) to 5 (always). The ECTB originally consisted of 53 items. After a pilot study using ten senior nursing faculty members, ten items were deleted based on less than half of the faculty rating it as important for inclusion in the student's tool. The resulting 43-item ECTB was then administered to 281 nursing students from two baccalaureate programs and one diploma program, who evaluated 29 clinical faculty who were teaching at the three different programs in a midwestern state. Findings from the study (Zimmerman & Westfall, 1988) revealed the ECTB scales to be both valid and reliable. Factor analysis suggested that the tool measured one major factor: effective clinical teaching behaviors.

While most of the instruments described here have been used in nursing research, the ECTB survey instrument was used by Dunlevy and Wolf in 1992 with 102 senior students enrolled in four-year programs of physical therapy, respiratory therapy, coordinated dietetics, and medical technology, as well as 125 of these students' preceptors in undergraduate institutions in Ohio. The purpose of the Dunlevy and Wolf (1992) study was to identify whether or not discrepancies existed between the importance of clinical teaching behaviors, and the frequency with which those behaviors were used

in the clinical practice environment. After asking the respondents to rate the clinical teaching behaviors, they were then asked to rate the frequency with which the behaviors occurred. Students and preceptors agreed that honesty, patience, strong knowledge base, and dedication to patient care were important; however, there was disagreement on the perceptions of how frequently the behaviors were demonstrated in the clinical area. Preceptors reported actually practicing the noted behaviors more often than students reported observing the behaviors.

The third evaluation tool included in this section is the Clinical Teaching Evaluation (CTE), developed by Fong and McCauley (1993). Many of the behaviors and characteristics previously identified continue to be recognized as significant through the use of the CTE.

#### Clinical Teaching Evaluation

The purpose of a study undertaken by Fong and McCauley (1993) was to develop and validate a clinical teaching evaluation instrument that addressed the nursing expertise, teaching ability, and interpersonal relationship skills of clinical instructors. The authors identified a gap in the evaluation of clinical teaching effectiveness through a review of the nursing literature, which was the evaluation of a clinical instructor's ability to relate theoretical concepts to clinical practice. The tool was developed to evaluate nursing competence, which included the use of theory in clinical decision-making, as well as the teaching and interpersonal skills of the clinical instructor. Thirty items were originally included in the instrument, and were measured on a five-point Likert-type scale ranging from "excellent - one of the most effective teachers I know" to "poor - one of the least effective teachers I know". Items were developed based on a review of the literature of effective clinical teaching behaviors, a review of previously published teacher evaluation instruments, and consultation with a panel of fourteen expert nursing faculty members (Fong & McCauley, 1993).

The study respondents consisted of 384 undergraduate nursing students who evaluated 27 part-time and full-time clinical instructors at a private university in a western metropolitan area of the United States (Fong & McCauley, 1993). Three factors were evaluated: the first factor was Nursing Competence, which is one's interest in patients, one's technical nursing skills, and the awareness of one's professional responsibilities and consisted of nine items; the second factor was Consideration for Students, which included nine items assessing teacher recognition of the student as an individual deserving confidentiality, respect and confidence; and the third factor was Teaching Competence, made up of seven items concerned with the process of transmitting nursing knowledge, skills, and attitudes.

Analysis of the data collected through use of the CTE instrument indicated that the instrument scores were both reliable and valid (Fong & McCauley, 1993). Content and construct validity were documented. Factor analysis demonstrated that the instrument indeed measured the three major factors identified, which were Nursing Competence, Consideration for Students, and Teaching Competence. The expert panel pared the original survey of 30 items to 25 items, based on strength of response, and the resulting survey was administered to 106 nursing students the semester following the original survey administration. Test-retest reliability of the 25-item survey was strong, with a Pearson correlation coefficient of .85, with significance at the p < .001 level (Fong & McCauley, 1993). The fourth and final tool included for discussion is the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), which is the tool selected for use in this study. The NCTEI has been used to evaluate clinical teaching effectiveness in nursing more often than any other single tool in the twenty years since its' development.

#### Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory

The instrument developed by Mogan and Knox (1983), called the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), was intended to measure the characteristics demonstrated by effective clinical nursing faculty. At the time of development, the authors had determined that there were few clinical evaluation tools available for use, and none that had demonstrated validity and reliability. In an initial qualitative study prior to development of the NCTEI, the authors used an evaluation summary form administered to students after each clinical rotation in a baccalaureate nursing program in Canada that asked three questions: how did the student rate the effectiveness of a particular clinical instructor, what were the most effective aspects of the instructor, and how could the instructor improve individual effectiveness.

Student responses at all levels of the four-year BSN program were used from precollected data in one academic year, with the consent of a majority of the faculty. From the summary sheets, the authors identified five broad categories of effective and ineffective clinical teaching behaviors through content analysis: teaching ability, which was defined as the process of transmission of knowledge, skills and attitudes, and the creation of an atmosphere in which this process takes place; nursing competence, which is termed the theoretical and nursing knowledge and attitude toward the nursing profession; ability to evaluate, defined as the type and amount of feedback the student received from the teacher on clinical performance and written clinical assignments; interpersonal relationship, termed the state of reciprocal interest or communication between two or more individuals that excluded specific communication between nurse and patient; and personality, which was defined as the totality of the individual's attitudes, emotional tendencies, and character traits that were not specifically related to teaching, nursing, or interpersonal relationships. Results of this study were used to develop the NCTEI (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

Knox and Mogan (1985) reported the results of an exploratory study using a 47item survey instrument they developed that described clinical teacher characteristics in each item, which they called the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI). Respondents included 393 students at all levels of a baccalaureate nursing program in Canada, 49 faculty members, and 45 practicing BSN graduates from the same university. Respondents were asked to rate clinical faculty behaviors on a 7-point Likerttype scale that ranged from least effective to most effective. Evaluation was the highest rated category by all groups of respondents except first year nursing students, who had not had summative clinical evaluation at the time the survey was administered. Personality was rated as least important by all groups (Knox & Mogan, 1985).

The authors further extended their use of the NCTEI in 1987, when they added an additional item to the previous 47, resulting in a 48-item survey. The purpose of this exploratory study was to determine whether there were characteristics that differentiate "best" from "worst" clinical teachers, what those characteristics were, and whether nursing students and faculty had similar or dissimilar perceptions about the characteristics. Mogan and Knox (1987) reported study results identifying the

characteristics of the best and worst clinical teachers. Respondent groups included 28 clinical teachers and their 173 undergraduate students (52 fourth year students, 62 third year students, and 59 second year students) in seven university schools of nursing located in the western part of the United States and Canada. In this study, the researchers asked student respondents to think of their best clinical teacher and rate him or her using the NCTEI. Students were then asked to think of their worst clinical teacher and to rate him or her on a second NCTEI. Faculty respondents were asked to self-evaluate using the same 48-item instrument. Students in the first year of the academic programs were excluded, and only students in the second through fourth years of the programs were included and were required to have been taught by at least three clinical teachers prior to participating. Results of the study showed similar ratings in the characteristics of best clinical teachers between the faculty group and the students (Mogan & Knox, 1987).

Both groups identified the best clinical teachers as good role models who enjoyed nursing and teaching. These individuals were well-prepared to teach, and were seen as self-confident, skilled clinical nurses who took responsibility for their own actions. They were approachable and fostered mutual respect. Faculty perceived the best clinical teachers to also demonstrate breadth of nursing knowledge and clear explanation of concepts, and stimulation of student interest. Students perceived the best clinical teachers as demonstrating enthusiasm, promoting student independence, and correcting students without embarrassment (Mogan & Knox, 1987).

Less agreement was found between the groups when considering the characteristics of the worst clinical teacher. Faculty felt that the worst teacher did not enjoy nursing, had a lack of communication skills, and was unable to objectively identify student strengths and weaknesses. Students felt that the worst clinical teachers were unapproachable and lacked empathy, did not communicate expectations clearly, and embarrassed students when they made mistakes. Both students and faculty agreed that the worst clinical teachers were poor role models, and were closed-minded and judgmental. The worst clinical teachers were felt by both groups to fail to create an atmosphere of mutual respect, and not to provide support and encouragement to students. *Summary* 

In the twenty years since it's development in 1985, the NCTEI has been used in a number of studies (Allison-Jones, 2002; Allison-Jones & Hirt, 2004; Benor & Leviyof, 1997; Gignac-Caille & Oermann, 2001; Kotzabassaki, Panou, Dimou, Karabagli, Koutsopoulou, & Ikonomou, 1997; Lee, Cholowski, & Williams, 2002; Li, 1997; Mogan & Warbinek, 1994; Nahas, Nour, & Al-Nobani, 1999; Nehring, 1990; Sieh & Bell, 1994; White, 1997). The wide use of the NCTEI makes this instrument particularly valuable when comparing the results of studies of nursing clinical faculty teaching effectiveness (Scanlan, 2001). The instrument has been used at all levels of nursing education: baccalaureate, associate degree and licensed practical nursing faculty. The NCTEI scores have proven to be reliable and valid in relation to measuring effective behaviors of clinical nursing faculty, and has demonstrated consistent results with continued use (Allison-Jones, 2002, Allison-Jones & Hirt, 2004). Further information on validity and reliability is presented in the chapters on Methods and Results.

# CHAPTER III

## METHODS

#### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time clinical nursing faculty as compared to full-time clinical nursing faculty using the perceptions of students and self-perceptions of part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. The study also examined the characteristics identified by students, part-time clinical nursing faculty and full-time clinical nursing faculty as being representative and desirable of effective clinical teachers.

The increased use of part-time clinical nursing faculty has caused administrators in nursing education to question the quality of education provided by these individuals (Myrick, 1991). One way to assess quality of education is to assess teacher effectiveness. Effective learning in a clinical setting is influenced greatly by clinical faculty, and the gap created in the clinical education process by inadequately prepared clinical faculty may decrease the overall quality of education a student expects to receive from a program of nursing (Wong & Wong, 1987).

The information gathered from research studies concerning how to evaluate teaching effectiveness will contribute to the development of more effective clinical teachers. Insight into the clinical teaching behaviors that are viewed as most effective as well as those that are viewed as least effective by both students and faculty will assist new clinical instructors in setting personal goals for their own teaching. This chapter will discuss the methods used to address the following research questions:

Research Questions:

1. Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students to be different from part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

2. Are there differences in the self-perceptions of clinical teaching effectiveness between full-time and part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

3. Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students and faculty to be different from part-time nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality?

4. Are there particular characteristics that are perceived by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty, in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality? *Variables* 

The independent variable was 'evaluator status', and was designated at three levels: part-time clinical instructor, full-time clinical instructor, and student evaluator. The dependent variable was "clinical teaching effectiveness" of part-time and full-time nursing clinical faculty. In addition, demographic information was obtained for all groups. Student respondents were asked to provide age, race or ethnicity, school affiliation, and whether the respondent had earned any previous degrees. For faculty respondents, information was requested on age, race or ethnicity, school affiliation, major focus for clinical teaching, highest degree obtained, whether the respondent was full or part-time, nursing credentials held by the respondent, and how long the respondent had been a clinical teacher.

#### Design of the Study

This study used a nonexperimental descriptive comparative survey design to examine the perceptions of clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time and full-time clinical nurse teachers by students as well the self-perceptions of the faculty themselves. The data were collected using a cross-sectional approach.

#### *Population and Sample*

The convenience sample included senior-level baccalaureate nursing students from two schools of nursing offering baccalaureate degrees in central Alabama, as well as part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty from the same schools of nursing during the academic years of 2002-2003, 2003-2004, and 2004-2005. Junior-level students were not included because they had less experience in clinical rotations at the time of survey administration. Convenience sampling is economical, less time-intensive, and is often chosen based on the accessibility of the sample population (Burns & Grove, 2001; Yoon & Horne, 2004), but the participants may not be typical or representative of the overall population in their responses to the variables being measured (Polit & Hungler, 1995). Convenience sampling is the most commonly used method in nursing research studies (Nieswiadomy, 1998). Sample size for this study was relatively small, with only two schools of nursing comprising the sample for study. Smaller samples tend to produce less accurate estimates than larger samples, but large samples do not assure accuracy (Polit & Hungler, 1995). A small sample may be adequate for research purposes if the population is relatively homogeneous with respect to the variables of interest in the study (Polit & Hungler, 1995). Polit and Hungler (1995) asserted that one way to increase the generalizability of a study is to select participants from two or more sites, and to ensure that constancy of conditions is maintained across sites as much as is possible. *Study Procedures* 

This study received approval with expedited status by the Auburn University Institutional Review Board for Research Involving Human Subjects (see Appendix A). Approval by the Auburn University at Montgomery Institutional Review Board for Research Involving Human Subjects was also sought and obtained, and was granted based on the initial approval provided by Auburn University (see Appendix B).

Student participants at each school of nursing site received an explanatory information letter in their student mailboxes two weeks prior to the actual survey administration on campus, which was undertaken during the spring semester of one academic year. The explanatory information letter described the voluntary and anonymous nature of the study. A copy of the information letter may be found in Appendix C. Two class days prior to administration of a survey on campus, a faculty member from each school of nursing provided in class a verbal reminder of when and where the surveys would be administered. Two forms of the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Instrument (NCTEI) were provided to students who participated in the

study: form A-1 for evaluation of part-time clinical nursing faculty, and form A-2 for evaluation of full-time clinical nursing faculty (See Appendices D and E). The surveys were administered on two separate days for students on each school campus: one day was dedicated toward completion of surveys to evaluate part-time clinical instructors, and one day for completion of surveys evaluating full-time clinical instructors. Completion of the surveys and providing accompanying demographic information by each student implied informed consent to participate in the study. Those students who did not wish to participate simply did not attend the session intended for survey administration, or did not complete the survey. No record was kept of any students who did not wish to participate. Two opportunities were provided at each institution for students to complete the survey for each status of the faculty groups.

Faculty participants for the study were identified from a list of names provided by each School of Nursing of individuals who had taught on a part-time or full-time basis during the academic years of 2002-2003, 2003-2004, or 2004-2005. Part-time clinical nursing faculty were defined as those individuals who participated in at least one clinical experience day per week for at least one semester of the academic years noted and who held no permanent academic appointment. Full-time clinical nursing faculty were defined as those individuals who participated in at least one clinical experience day per week for at least two semesters of the academic years noted, and who held an academic appointment of 80 per cent or greater. Faculty received an explanatory letter, a survey (see Appendix F), and a stamped, self-addressed envelope for return of the completed survey by first class mail. Confidentiality of faculty responses was assured, by instructing faculty not to place their names anywhere on the survey instrument, and by maintaining a master copy of faculty names with corresponding numbers for each survey instrument in a locked cabinet in the investigator's office that was accessible only by the investigator. Three weeks following the first mailing, a hand-written reminder postcard was sent out to those who had not returned a survey, and three weeks following the mailing of the reminder postcard, a second mailing of the information letter, survey, and return envelope was sent to those who still had not returned a survey. No further contact attempts were made.

#### Instrument

The instrument used to measure clinical teaching effectiveness for this study was the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), developed by Knox and Mogan (1985) from their original work reported in 1983 at the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada. The first published work using the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) was in 1985 by these rsearchers, and since that time, the NCTEI has been used in a variety of settings with many different groups of respondents, including licensed practical nursing students (LPN), associate degree nursing students (ADN), baccalaureate of science nursing students (BSN), nurse graduates, and faculty from these same programs (Allison-Jones, 2002; Knox & Mogan,1985; Mogan & Knox, 1987; Nehring, 1990; Sieh & Bell, 1994; White, 1997). The series of studies that have been conducted using the NCTEI provides examples in which one tool has been used consistently over time, and with such a variety of groups (Allison-Jones, 2002).

In 1983, Mogan and Knox published results of a study that focused on identifying effective and ineffective aspects of clinical teaching as perceived by students. They used

summary evaluation sheets for the academic year 1980-1981 for 58 consenting faculty members, which provided two open-ended questions on the evaluation sheets. The two questions were: 1)What are the most effective aspects of this individual's instruction, and 2) How can this instructor's effectiveness be improved (Mogan & Knox, 1983). From a content analysis of the summary sheets, five broad categories of effective teaching behaviors were identified: teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal relationship, and personality. The data suggested that an openended evaluation form did not provide the student with enough direction for evaluation of clinical teaching, since the students were left to develop their own criteria for what constituted effective teacher behaviors, and a more structured form was suggested for use (Mogan & Knox, 1983).

In 1985, Knox and Mogan published the results of an exploratory study that resulted in the development of the NCTEI. The original survey instrument contained 47 items, with each item describing a clinical teacher characteristic that had been identified through content analysis in 1983. Student descriptions of effective clinical teacher behaviors were compared with those identified in previous literature (Brown, 1981; Jacobsen, 1966; O'Shea & Parsons, 1979). The tool was distributed to faculty and students to test for content validity and refined based on results. The authors reported that content analysis had resulted in five categories of clinical teacher behaviors, and stated that "Reliability estimates were established for each of the five categories...and for each of the 47 items with reliability coefficients ranging from a = 0.79 to a = 0.89. Testretest reliability was substantial" (Knox & Mogan, 1985, p. 27). There was no report of

reliability coefficients by specific category, and no further elaboration of the test-retest reliability values was provided by the authors.

Mogan & Knox (1987) again used the NCTEI in a study to identify and compare characteristics of "best" and "worst" clinical teachers as perceived by university nursing faculty and students. One further item was added to the survey instrument, for a final total of 48 items. Respondents judged items in each of the five subscales of clinical teaching behaviors on a seven-point Likert-type scale, and category scores were obtained by summing scores of all items within a category. Summing all five category scores provided a total score for a teacher. Higher scores implied more positive teacher characteristics. Mogan and Knox again reported that "The instrument was found to be internally consistent (a = 0.79 - 0.92), was stable over time (test-retest scores at 4 week intervals ranged from r = 0.76 - 0.93), and the instrument was considered to have content and face validity" (1987, p. 333). Reliability scores were again not reported by individual category of teaching behavior.

The version of the NCTEI used for this study consisted of five sections, with a total of 48 items. Each section of the survey was designed to focus on a discrete component of effective clinical teaching. The first section of the NCTEI, items 1-16, contained items related to Teaching Ability. Each item addressed characteristics that contributed to teaching ability. In the next section, items 17-26 related to characteristics of Nursing Competence. The third section, items 27-35, described characteristics related to the Evaluation of Students. The fourth section contained six items which considered the relationship the faculty member had with students, or Interpersonal Relationships.

The fifth and final section of the NCTEI contained seven items that measured the Personality of the Teacher (Knox & Mogan, 1985; Mogan & Knox, 1987).

For this study, permission to use the survey instrument, the NCTEI, was obtained (see Appendix G). Three forms of the survey instrument were prepared. The first form, designated A-1, was provided to senior level students on a designated day to evaluate part-time clinical faculty. Form A-2 was provided to senior level students on a second designated day to evaluate full-time clinical faculty. Form B was provided to both parttime and full-time clinical faculty for self-evaluation. Respondents were asked to mark their response to each item on a seven-point Likert-type scale where 1 equaled NEVER, and 7 equaled ALWAYS. The use of this type scale provided interval data and allowed calculation of mean scores. Items from each section were reversed to avoid a "yeasayer/naysayer" effect, which is a type of response bias. Participants in studies have been found to agree with statements regardless of the content of a question or statement, or "yeasayers". A less common problem is the opposite tendency, which is to disagree with statements independently of the content of the question or statement, and these individuals are called "naysayers". For some people, these tendencies may be characteristic of their personalities, and may be avoided or minimized by the strategy of counterbalancing positively and negatively worded statements (Polit & Hungler, 1995).

Forms A-1 and A-2 also included questions about the respondent's demographic characteristics such as age, gender, race or ethnicity, and student respondents were asked to provide information on the name of the school, the clinical setting used for evaluation of faculty (for example, pediatrics, obstetrics, medical-surgical), semester and year of the rotation for which the respondent was evaluating the clinical faculty, and whether the

respondent had earned any previous degrees. A positive response for this question then prompted the individual to list the degrees earned. Depending upon the designated day, student respondents were given either a form A-1 or form A-2 to evaluate part-time or full-time clinical faculty they had had experience with while in the nursing program.

Form B, used by faculty, included information on demographic characteristics such as age, gender, race or ethnicity, and faculty respondents were asked to provide information on the name of the school, the major focus of the respondent for clinical teaching, whether the respondent was part-time or full-time, how many years the respondent had in experience as a clinical instructor, nursing credentials held, and the highest degree earned by the respondent. Respondents were told that each survey instrument would take approximately 20 minutes to complete. Complete copies of each form of the instrument may be found in Appendices D, E, and F.

### Data Analysis Procedures

All survey instruments were compiled and sorted by respondent status. Student responses were sorted by part-time or full-time clinical faculty evaluation categories, depending upon the evaluation session attended by the students. Faculty responses were also further sorted into groups for part-time or full-time status. All responses were then coded for statistical analysis, entered, and analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 12.0 for Windows. Level of significance was set at 0.05, or 5 chances in 100 that the results considered significant could occur by chance alone. Frequency distributions and descriptive statistics were computed for demographic information from the survey instrument to facilitate description of the sample. Mean scores for each of the five subscales of the NCTEI were calculated for each of the groups of student respondents. The mean overall scores were also calculated. Reliability coefficients were calculated for each of the five subscales of the instrument. Differences in the ways full-time and part-time clinical faculty perceived their own teaching effectiveness were examined using these same steps. Descriptive statistics were used to identify the particular characteristics perceived by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty in the five domains of interest.

To test the differences between part-time faculty or full-time faculty evaluations by students and self evaluations of faculty, the independent samples *t* test was used. This test is particularly useful when only small samples are available for analysis (Burns & Grove, 2001). The three assumptions underlying the *t* test are: 1) The independent variable is categorical and contains two levels, or two mutually exclusive groups of subjects, 2) The distribution of the dependent variable is normal, and 3) The variances of the dependent variable for the two groups are similar, or there is homogeneity of variance (Munro, 2001). To answer research questions one and two, independent sample *t* tests were done to compare the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty and part-time nursing clinical faculty by students in each of the domains of interest, and to compare the self-perceptions of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty and part-time nursing clinical faculty.

In order to compare the data from all groups and answer research question three, a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed to test the significance of the differences between means. ANOVA is a statistical test that is based on the assumption that data are interval or ratio level and that the data have been selected from populations that are normally distributed and have equal variances on the variable that is being measured, termed homogeneity of variance (Nieswiadomy, 1998). Other assumptions made with ANOVA were that the groups were independent of each other, and the dependent variable was continuous. ANOVA has been shown to be fairly robust, which means that even if the researcher does not rigidly adhere to the assumptions, the results may still be close to the truth (Munro, 2001).

If more than two groups are studied, it is not possible to determine from the ANOVA precisely where the significant differences lie. Therefore, post hoc analyses are conducted to determine the location of the differences among groups, and these tests were developed to reduce the incidence of a Type I error, or making a decision that a relationship exists between variables when it does not (Nieswiadomy, 1998). The post hoc analysis to be used for this study was the Scheffe test, which is reported frequently. The Scheffe test is the most conservative of the post hoc tests (Burns & Grove, 2001) but is stringent and can be used with groups of equal and unequal size (Munro, 2001). A post hoc Scheffe was to be calculated to determine if there were significant differences in mean scores between student assessments of part-time faculty and part-time faculty self assessments. Another post hoc Scheffe was to be conducted to compare mean scores of student assessments of full-time faculty and full-time faculty self-assessments. Descriptive statistics were utilized to identify the characteristics rated by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty, which is the focus of research question four.

# Summary

Chapter III described the design of the study and the procedures used to address the purpose of the study. The convenience sample consisted of senior level baccalaureate nursing students from two schools of nursing in central Alabama surveyed during the academic year of 2004-2005, and the part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty who were at each school during the academic years 2002-2003, 2003-2004, and 2004-2005. A description of the sample is contained in Chapter III. The instrument used to collect the data was the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), with accompanying demographic information on each survey instrument. Three forms of the same instrument were distributed to study participants, based on the status of the participant, and the part-time or full-time status of the person being evaluated. The reliability and validity of the NCTEI was discussed, as well as collection and data analysis procedures. Chapter IV will discuss the analysis of the data and the results of the study.

# CHAPTER IV

# FINDINGS

#### Introduction

The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time clinical nursing faculty as compared to full-time clinical nursing faculty using the perceptions of students and self-perceptions of part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. The study also examined the characteristics identified by students, part-time clinical nursing faculty and full-time clinical nursing faculty as being representative and desirable of effective clinical teachers.

This chapter presents the demographic statistics of the sample and the results of the statistical analyses used, as well as any ancillary findings. All participants completed a form of the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Instrument (NCTEI). If the participant was a student, he or she was asked to complete one of two survey instruments: one for evaluation of part-time clinical nursing faculty or one for evaluation of full-time clinical nursing faculty that the student had experience with during the nursing program. Faculty were asked to complete a form of the NCTEI based on their status as either a part-time or full-time clinical nursing instructor. Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 12.0 (SPSS 12.0).

### *Participants*

The convenience sample consisted of 152 senior-level nursing students enrolled in two baccalaureate programs in the southeast who were surveyed during the spring and summer semesters of 2005, 24 full-time clinical nursing faculty, and 55 part-time clinical nursing faculty. Of the 152 senior-level students from the two schools, 132 students chose to participate in this study by completing the NCTEI, for a response rate of 86.84 per cent. Surveys were provided to students on two separate days: one day designated for evaluation of part-time clinical nursing instructors and a second day designated for evaluation of full-time clinical nursing instructors. All student respondents had not had the opportunity to work with both full-time and part-time clinical nursing faculty. Students who had both full-time and part-time clinical nursing faculty were not able to be identified due to the anonymity of their responses, which presents a limitation of the study in dependency of the data, since those who evaluated both full-time and part-time clinical faculty could not be identified. Of the 132 student participants, 124 students (94%) had worked with part time clinical nursing faculty and 99 (75%) had worked with full-time clinical nursing faculty, based on data received from survey responses. All 24 full-time clinical nursing faculty completed the survey instrument, as well as 44 of the 55 part-time clinical nursing faculty, for a part-time faculty response rate of 80 per cent.

Age distribution of student respondents is found in Table 1. Of the 223 total student responses of both full- and part-time clinical nursing faculty, 89.23 per cent came from students aged under age 30 and, 49.3 per cent of responses came from students aged 20-22. The mean age of student respondents was 24.77 years (*SD* of 5.96 years).

# Table 1

Age	Frequency	Age	Frequency
20	5	33	2
21	37	34	4
22	68	35	2
23	27	36	2
24	18	37	1
25	23	38	1
26	6	39	2
27	5	41	2
28	2	42	2
29	6	50	2
30	2	58	2
31	2		

Distribution of Student Respondents by Age

n=223

Data are presented in Table 2 that provide a profile of faculty by age. The mean age of part-time faculty respondents was 41.9 years (*SD* of 11.272 years) and the mean age of full-time faculty respondents was 46.13 years (*SD* of 9.479 years), ages which correspond to the current average age of 45 years of both practicing registered nurses and nursing faculty.

# Table 2

Age	Frequency	Age	Frequency
23	2	42	1
24	1	43	2
25	1	44	3
27	2	46	1
28	2	47	2
29	1	48	2
30	1	49	2
31	1	50	5
33	3	51	4
34	1	52	3
35	4	54	4
36	3	57	4
37	2	58	3
38	1	60	2
39	4	65	1

Distribution of Faculty Respondents by Age

n=68

Data concerning gender are presented in Table 3. It is again important to note that student responses overlapped between evaluation of full and part-time clinical nursing

faculty and respondents may have been counted twice. Table 4 contains data that separates respondents by race or ethnicity.

Table 3

Gender	Student - Full time	Student - Part time	Faculty Full time	Faculty Part time	Per cent
Female	85	112	23	38	88%
Male	14	12	1	6	11.6%
N=291					

Distribution of Study Participants by Gender

Table 4

Distribution of Study Participants by Race/Ethnicity

Race	Student - Full time	Student - Part time	Faculty Full time	Faculty Part time	Per cent
Caucasian	94	115	21	2	93.45%
Black	4	8	2	2	5.5 %
Asian	0	0	1	0	0.34%
Hispanic	1	1	0	0	0.69%

N=291

Data collected concerning gender and race or ethnicity are representative of the current nursing population at large, with the preponderance of nurses being both female and Caucasian.

Student respondents were asked to provide the clinical setting for the evaluation of their experience with either the part-time or full-time clinical nursing faculty, and faculty were asked to provide their focus for clinical teaching. Data collected regarding the clinical setting are found in Table 5. The clinical area of medical-surgical nursing practice represents the greatest volume of responses from both students and faculty, as well as the greatest number of clinical hours in both school curricula.

Table 5

Clinical Setting	Student Full time	Student Part time	Faculty Full time	Faculty Part time	
Pediatrics	6	14	3	6	
Obstetrics	39	6	2	5	
Medical- Surgical	29	89	10	21	
Psychiatric	9	7	1	4	
Critical Care	16	8	5	8	
Community Health	0	0	3	0	

#### Focus for Clinical Experiences

# N=291

Data were collected from all faculty respondents concerning the highest degree they had obtained and the average number of years faculty had had experience in clinical teaching. Tables 6 and 7 contain this information, separated by part-time or full-time clinical teaching status. None of the faculty respondents, whether full-time or part-time, were asked to identify if they were currently enrolled in a degree-seeking program. The single full-time faculty member prepared at the baccalaureate level made an anecdotal comment that she was currently enrolled in a program of study through distance-learning, leading to a doctorate in nursing but did not provide any further specific information.

Table 6

Degree Obtained	Faculty Full-time	Per cent	Faculty Part-time	Per cent
Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN)	1	4 %	22	50 %
Master of Science in Nursing (MSN)	12	50 %	22	50 %
Doctorate in Nursing	6	25 %	0	0 %
Other Doctorate	5	21 %	0	0 %

# Highest Degree Achieved by Clinical Faculty

n=68

Table 7

# Years of Experience as Clinical Instructor

Faculty Status	Mean (yrs)	SD
Full-time clinical instructor	11.542	7.5295
Part-time clinical instructor	5.091	5.2775
n=68		

All faculty respondents were asked to provide information on nursing credentials they might hold, apart from the academic degrees obtained. These credentials included the designation of Nurse Practitioner (NP), critical care certification (CCRN), basic cardiac life support instructor(BCLS), advanced cardiac life support provider (ACLS), pediatric advanced life support provider (PALS), neonatal resuscitation provider (NRP), trauma nurse course certification (TNCC), certified emergency nurse (CEN), and American Nurses Credentialing Center certification-any field (ANCC). Credentials were held by 58.33 % of full-time and 61.36% of part-time clinical faculty, as seen in Table 8. Table 8

Credential	Faculty full-time	Per cent	Faculty part-time	Per cent
NP	8	33.33%	5	11.36%
CCRN	1	4.16%	1	2.27%
BCLS Instructor	2	8.33%	0	0%
ACLS	1	4.16	4	9.09%
PALS	1	4.16	5	11.36%
NRP	0	0%	4	9.09%
TNCC	1	4.16%	0	0%
CEN	0	0%	2	5.45%
ANCC	0	0%	3	6.82%
Other	0	0%	3	6.82%
None	10	41.67 %	17	38.64%

# Nursing Credentials

n=68

# Analysis of Data

The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), developed by Knox and Mogan (1985), was used to collect data for this research study. Two forms of the NCTEI were given to students: form A-1 was used for evaluation of part-time clinical nursing faculty, and form A-2 was used for evaluation of full-time clinical nursing faculty. Form B was given to both part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty for self-evaluation. The 48-item survey was identical in all forms, but the information collected at the beginning of the survey form was different for student and faculty respondents.

Five broad categories of effective teaching behaviors were assessed through use of the NCTEI: Teaching Ability, Nursing Competence, Ability to Evaluate Students, Interpersonal Relationships or Qualities, and Personality of the Teacher. Items 1-16 related to Teaching Ability, items 17-26 to Nursing Competence, 27-35 to Ability to Evaluate, items 36-41 related to Interpersonal Relationships, and items 42-48 related to the Personality of the Teacher. Mean scores for each of the five subscales of the NCTEI were calculated, and mean overall scores were calculated as well, with the highest possible score being a seven. Higher scores, in each of the five subscales as well as overall, implied more positive or effective teacher characteristics. The range of overall summed scores spanned low scores of 143 to the highest possible scores of 336.

The first two research questions were addressed using independent samples *t* tests. The third research question was addressed by using the Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). The fourth research question was addressed using descriptive statistics.

As seen from the data in Table 9, students ranked full-time clinical faculty consistently higher in all domains than part-time clinical faculty. However, the results were not statistically significant and readers are cautioned that dependency of data exists.. The overall summed scores were similar to the subscale scores, with an overall mean for student evaluations of full-time clinical nursing faculty of 293.18 (*SD* 34.99), and 285.32 (*SD* 43.71) for part-time clinical nursing faculty.

# Table 9

Categories of behavior	Student of Full-time (Mean/SD)	Student of Part-time (Mean/SD)	<i>t</i> value	df	<i>p</i> value	Effect Size (Cohen's d)
Teaching Ability	97.94(12.23)	96.32(13.96)	.907	221	.365	0.1234
Nursing Competence	59.51(6.83)	57.50(9.18)	1.809	221	.072	0.2484
Evaluation of Students	55.31(7.96)	53.50(8.95)	1.577	221	.116	0.2137
Interpersonal Relationships	37.38(5.77)	36.12(6.87)	1.462	221	.145	0.1986
Personality of the Teacher	43.04(5.60)	41.88(7.68)	1.260	221	.209	0.1725

Differences in Student Perceptions of Full-time and Part-time Teacher Effectiveness

# n=223

Faculty self-perception of clinical teaching effectiveness is addressed by the second research question, and data are presented in Table 10 on corresponding faculty responses.

# Table 10

Categories of Behavior	Faculty Full-time (Mean/SD)	Faculty Part-time (Mean/SD)	<i>t</i> value	df	<i>p</i> value	Effect Size (Cohen's d)
Teaching Ability	97.58(6.13)	95.50(6.86)	1.240	66	.219	0.3194
Nursing Competence	61.12(3.55)	58.91(4.55)	2.063	66	.043	0.5415
Evaluation of Students	54.29(4.8)	55.29(4.37)	871	66	.387	- 0.2166
Interpersonal Relationships	38.042(2.7)	38.23(3.06)	248	66	.805	- 0.0657
Personality of the Teacher	42.42(3.21)	42.5 (3.46)	097	66	.923	- 0.0239

Differences in Faculty Self-Perceptions of Clinical Teaching Effectiveness

#### n=68

Full-time and part-time clinical faculty self-rate similarly, with the only statistically significant difference in scores demonstrated in the category of Nursing Competence. The overall mean of the summed scores for full-time faculty self-evaluations was 293.46 (*SD* 15.17), and was 290.43 (*SD* 19.29) for part-time faculty self-evaluations.

In order to compare the data from all four groups of respondents and answer research question three, a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed to test the statistical significance of the differences between means. No statistically significant difference was found between groups. These data should be interpreted carefully, since the assumption of homogeneity of variance was violated for this question (see Table 11). Violating this assumption leads to a greater chance of a Type I error, or rejecting the null hypothesis when it is true (Munro, 2001). Levene's test demonstrated that the population variances from which the groups were sampled were not equal. Data are provided in Tables 11 and 12 that detail the information gained from all four groups of respondents.

Table 11

Categories of Behaviors	Evaluator Status	N	Mean	SD	SE
Teaching Ability	Student of Full-time	99	97.9394	12.232229	1.22939
	Student of Part-time	124	96.3226	13.96019	1.25366
	Faculty Full-time	24	97.5833	6.13555	1.25241
	Faculty Part-time	44	96.8522	12.00182	.70356
Nursing Competence	Student of Full-time	99	59.5051	6.83385	.68683
	Student of Part-time	124	57.5000	9.18332	.82469
	Faculty Full-time	24	61.1250	3.55470	.72560
	Faculty Part-time	44	58.9091	4.55365	.68649

Clinical Teaching Effectiveness of Full-time and Part-time Faculty

Table 11, continued

ator N	Mean	SD	SE
nt of 99 ime	55.3131	7.96888	.80090
nt of 124 ime	53.5000	8.95199	.80391
ty 24 ime	54.2917	4.84973	.98995
ty 44 ime	55.2955	4.36998	.65880
nt of 99 ime	37.3838	5.77416	.58033
nt of 124 ime	36.1210	6.87471	.61737
ty 24 ime	38.0417	2.71035	.46194
ty 44 ime	38.2273	3.06415	.46194
	43.0404	5.60051	.56287
	41.8790	7.68442	.69008
•	42.4167	3.21568	.65640
•	42.5000	3.46074	.52173
	nt of 99 ime nt of 124 ime ty 24 ime	ime         nt of       99       43.0404         ime       99       43.0404         ime       124       41.8790         ime       124       41.8790         ime       24       42.4167         ime       44       42.5000	ime       nt of       99       43.0404       5.60051         ime       124       41.8790       7.68442         ime       24       42.4167       3.21568         ty       24       42.5000       3.46074

# Table 12

Test of	`Homogen	eitv of `	Variances
		eng og	

Categories	Levene Statistic	df1	df2	Significance
Teaching Ability	7.993	3	287	.000
Nursing Competence	8.405	3	287	.000
Evaluation of Students	6.012	3	287	.001
Interpersonal Relationships	6.943	3	287	.000
Personality of the Teacher	8.253	3	287	.000
2	8.253	3	287	

N=291

Post hoc Scheffe analyses were to be performed, but no statistically significant difference was found among groups; therefore, no post hoc analyses were used. Due to lack of homogeneity of variance found when the ANOVA was performed, the Kruskal-Wallis Test was performed. The Kruskal-Wallis test is the most powerful non-parametric test for examining three or more independent groups. It has 95 per cent of the power of the F statistic to detect existing differences between groups. The main assumption with this technique is an underlying continuous distribution (Burns & Grove, 2001), and it does not include the assumption of homogeneity of variance. Variables and groups for the Kruskal-Wallis test were set up as they were for the ANOVA. There were no statistically significant differences found between the groups on perception of teaching effectiveness with the Kruskal-Wallis Test.

The fourth and final research question investigated whether there were particular characteristics or behaviors that were perceived by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty in each of the behavior subscales. The most highly-rated items from both faculty and student respondents, regardless of part-time or full-time status of the clinical teacher, came from the behavior category of Nursing Competence. There were highly-rated items from all other categories with the exception of Ability to Evaluate Students. None of the top ten items came from the behaviors that constituted the category of Ability to Evaluate Students. The first item from Evaluation does not appear in the rankings until item 31 was noted at the ranking of 15<sup>th</sup> most important characteristic, which investigated how the clinical teacher communicated expectations of students.

Items concerning Teaching Ability make up 33.33 per cent of the NCTEI, and they constituted 30 per cent of the top ten ranked items by respondents. Items concerning Nursing Competence are 20.8 per cent of the NCTEI, but constitute the top 40 per cent of the top ten ranked items by respondents. The category of items grouped under Personality of the Teacher are 14.58 per cent of the NCTEI, and constitute 20 per cent of the top ten ranked items by respondents. Interpersonal Relationships completed the top ten ranked items by respondents, but only contributed 10 per cent to that total. There were no items from the category of Ability to Evaluate Students included in the top 10 items ranked by all respondents.

Data are presented in Table 13 that identify the top ten behaviors that effective clinical teachers demonstrated for both students and faculty in this study. Table 14

contains the top five characteristics of an effective clinical instructor from the student perspective, and Table 15 contains the same information from the faculty perspective. The description of each survey item may be found in Appendices D, E, and F. Items 4, 8, 16, 17, 19, 31, 32, 37, and 48 were originally written as negative questions to avoid the "yeasayer/naysayer" effect (Polit & Hungler, 1995), and were recoded for analysis, with the scale of ranking reversed.

Table 13

*Overall Perceptions of the Top 10 Characteristics of Effective Clinical Teachers (in order of importance)* 

Item Number and Description	Category	Rating
17. Demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement ~	Nursing Competence	6.54
26. Enjoyed Nursing	Nursing Competence	6.42
37. Was approachable ~	Interpersonal Relationships	6.41
8. Was well prepared for teaching~	Teaching Ability	6.37
9. Enjoyed Teaching	Teaching Ability	6.34
24. Took responsibility for own actions	Nursing Competence	6.32
44. Was self-confident	Personality of the Teacher	6.31
25. Was a good role model	Nursing Competence	6.28

Table 13, continued

Item Number and Description	Category	Rating
42. Demonstrated enthusiasm	Personality of the Teacher	6.26
6. Helped students identify and make use of practice opportunities	Teaching Ability	6.23

Note. ~ Items recoded for analysis; rephrased for intent

Table 14

Student Perceptions of the Top 5 Characteristics of an Effective Clinical Teacher (in order of importance)

Item Number and Description	Category	Rating
17. Demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement ~	Nursing Competence	6.56
8. Was well-prepared for teaching ~	Teaching Ability	6.46
26. Enjoyed nursing	Nursing Competence	6.43
44. Was self-confident	Personality of the Teacher	6.40
22. Demonstrated a breadth of knowledge in nursing	Teaching Ability	6.32

Note. ~Items recoded for analysis; rephrased for intent

Table 15

Item Number and Description	Category	Rating
24. Took responsibility for own actions	Nursing Competence	6.71
37. Was approachable~	Interpersonal Relationships	6.63
36. Provided support and encouragement to students	Interpersonal Relationships	6.49
9. Enjoyed teaching	Teaching Ability	6.49
17. Demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement~	Nursing Competence	6.47

*Faculty Perceptions of the Top 5 Characteristics of an Effective Clinical Teacher (in order of importance)* 

Note. ~Items recoded for analysis; rephrased for intent

# Reliability

All five subscales of the NCTEI were tested for reliability, as was the overall instrument. Computation of Cronbach's alpha coefficient provides a measure of internal consistency reliability, which assesses the extent to which items in a subscale or instrument go together (Munro, 2001). A Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 1.00 indicates perfect reliability, and a reliability coefficient of .80 is considered the lowest acceptable value for a well-developed psychosocial measurement instrument (Burns & Grove, 2001). The values found for each subscale of this instrument were high, which indicate to the researcher that the NCTEI demonstrates consistent and accurate measurement of information on each of the characteristics of the effective teacher over time. Reliability statistics for this study are presented in Table 16.

Table 16

Reliability Scores of Subscales and Overall NCTEI

Category	Cronbach's Alpha	Cronbach's Alpha Based on Standardized Items	# of items
Teaching Ability	.941	.941	16
Nursing Competence	.819	.858	10
Evaluation of Students	.888	.895	9
Interpersonal Relationships	.939	.940	6
Personality of the Teacher	.888	.894	7
NCTEI	.970	.973	48

# Summary

Descriptive statistics, independent samples *t* tests, and a one-way ANOVA were computed on the data to answer the four research questions examined in this study:

Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students to be different from part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality? Results of the study showed that students did not perceive any statistically significant differences in the effectiveness of instruction provided by part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty.

Are there differences in the self-perceptions of clinical teaching effectiveness between full-time and part-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality? Again, results of the study supported that the self-perceptions of full-time and part-time clinical nursing faculty did not differ significantly.

Is the clinical teaching effectiveness of full-time baccalaureate nursing clinical faculty perceived by students and faculty to be different from part-time nursing clinical faculty in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality? There were no statistically significant differences found by both students and faculty of the clinical teaching effectiveness between full-time and part-time nursing faculty.

Are there particular characteristics that are perceived by both students and faculty as representative of the most effective clinical faculty, in the domains of teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personality? The single highest rated survey item was that the most effective clinical teacher demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement by all four groups of respondents. Of the top ten highest-rated characteristics from all respondent groups, the greatest number of items came from the behavior category of Nursing Competence and none came from the behavior category of Ability to Evaluate Students.

# CHAPTER V

# SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction

The increased use of part-time clinical nursing faculty has caused administrators in nursing education to question the quality of education provided by these individuals (Myrick, 1991). One way to assess quality of education is to assess teacher effectiveness. Effective learning in a clinical setting is influenced greatly by clinical faculty, and the gap created in the clinical education process by inadequately prepared clinical faculty may decrease the overall quality of education a student expects to receive from a program of nursing (Wong & Wong, 1987). The purpose of this study was to examine the clinical teaching effectiveness of part-time clinical nursing faculty as compared to fulltime clinical nursing faculty using the perceptions of students and self-perceptions of part-time and full-time clinical nursing faculty. The study also examined the characteristics identified by students, part-time clinical nursing faculty and full-time clinical nursing faculty as being representative and desirable of effective clinical teachers. This chapter includes a summary of the findings of the study, relationship of the findings to prior research, conclusions, implications, and recommendations for further research and practice.

# Summary of the Findings

Senior-level baccalaureate nursing students at two public universities in the southeast United States and part-time and full-time clinical faculty from both schools were surveyed using the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), developed by Knox and Mogan (1985). Students were asked to provide their perceptions of the characteristics exhibited by effective clinical teachers of nursing, and faculty were asked to evaluate themselves on the characteristics they might exhibit as clinical teachers of nursing. The majority of responses came from students and faculty who evaluated the clinical experiences in the general medical-surgical area. The NCTEI contains five broad categories or domains of effective teaching behaviors: Teaching Ability, Nursing Competence, Ability to Evaluate Students, Interpersonal Relationships or Qualities, and Personality of the Teacher. Mean scores for each category were calculated, as were mean overall scores. Higher scores implied more positive or effective teacher characteristics.

Students ranked full-time clinical nursing faculty consistently higher in all domains of behavior than part-time clinical nursing faculty, but the results were not statistically significant. However, all students were not exposed to experiences with fulltime clinical nursing faculty: 75 per cent of the students had some clinical experiences with full-time clinical nursing faculty, while 94 per cent had worked with part-time clinical nursing faculty. Full-time and part-time clinical nursing faculty self-rate similarly; however, the only domain that demonstrated statistical significance was the category of Nursing Competence. When comparing all four groups of respondents through ANOVA, no difference was found between groups. However, dependency of data exists in that those students who had evaluated both full-time and part-time clinical faculty could not be identified due to the anonymous nature of their responses. It could not be determined whether these students evaluated both full-time clinical faculty and part-time clinical faculty in the same positive manner, or if they evaluated the faculty very differently.

The highest-rated items from both faculty and student respondents came from the domain of Nursing Competence. Four of the top ten characteristics of an effective clinical teacher overall came from Nursing Competence. Characteristics of Teaching Ability were next highest-rated, followed by Personality of the Teacher. Characteristics included in the domain of Ability to Evaluate were not rated in the top ten overall, nor in the top five characteristics of either students or faculty. The highest-rated individual characteristic perceived by students to be exhibited by an effective clinical teacher was "demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement". The highest-rated individual characteristic perceived by faculty to be exhibited by an effective clinical teacher was "took responsibility for own actions". The only item rated by both students and faculty in the top five highest characteristics was "demonstrated strong clinical skills and judgement". Faculty rated this characteristic as fifth in importance, while students rated it as first in importance; otherwise, there was no overlap within the five highest-rated characteristics between students and faculty.

# Conclusions

Students identified the ability to demonstrate strong clinical skills and judgement as the most important characteristic overall of an effective clinical teacher, which supported previous research findings of the importance of clinical competence (Benor & Leviyof, 1997; Bergman & Gaitskill, 1990; Knox & Mogan, 1985; Mogan & Knox,

1987; Nehring, 1990). The behavior domain of Nursing Competence was identified as most important for both students and faculty, while the behavior domain of Evaluation of Students was rated lowest. Kanitsaki and Sellick (1989) found the domain of Evaluation to be rated the least important, while studies undertaken by other authors (Gignac-Caille & Oermann, 2001; Li, 1997; O'Shea & Parsons, 1979; Sieh & Bell, 1994) have shown the domain of Evaluation to be considered most important by various study participants.

All respondent groups felt that an effective clinical teacher should demonstrate strong clinical skills and judgement, be well-prepared for teaching, enjoy teaching as well as nursing, be approachable and self-confident, and enthusiastic. All items were highly rated, leading one to assume that all respondents felt all characteristics were important, though specific characteristics were more desirable than others. The characteristics viewed as least desirable in an effective clinical teacher were "directed students to useful literature in nursing", and "revealed readings in his or her area of interest ", both of which are found within the domain of Nursing Competence. This represents a wide disparity of opinion since both the highest and lowest rated characteristics are found in this category of behavior.

No statistically significant differences were found between the self-evaluations of part-time clinical faculty and full-time clinical faculty. These results might lead one to conclude that the part-time clinical faculty over-rated themselves, or that full-time clinical faculty under-rated themselves in regard to teaching effectiveness. Full-time clinical nursing faculty who have a higher level of education and who have more experience teaching and evaluating students may have a greater tendency to self-rate

lower and be more critical of their own abilities than part-time clinical faculty with less experience in the role.

Part-time clinical faculty had, on average, less than half the years of experience as a clinical teacher of nursing than did full-time faculty. However, a greater percentage of the part-time clinical faculty held certifications or "credentials" in various areas of nursing care specialties than did full-time clinical faculty. Neither faculty group were asked how many years of overall nursing experience they had, rather than teaching experience. This might provide some insight as to the lack of statistically significant difference in the self-evaluations of the groups, as well as those of the students. A greater number of years of nursing experience might allow the part-time clinical nursing faculty member to be recognized as an expert teacher, simply through demonstration of skills and knowledge by that part-time clinical faculty for student evaluators. By comparing themselves to full-time clinical faculty observed in the clinical environment, part-time faculty may also feel that more years of experience "in the trenches" gives them a greater knowledge and skill base than those observed full-time clinical faculty.

Another factor may influence both the student evaluations as well as the selfevaluations of faculty, particularly of the part-time clinical faculty. One of the two schools surveyed has a full-time faculty member designated as clinical liaison for the school. This individual assists new and returning part-time clinical faculty in a variety of clinical activities, including the evaluation of student work, assistance in student counseling if needed, and in providing high-quality samples of student work that these part-time clinical faculty might use to assist in determining quality of student work, through comparison to an expected standard. The clinical liaison also makes weekly site

visits with part-time clinical instructors and serves as a facilitator for communication between these instructors and the school. Part-time clinical faculty may feel less isolated and more a part of the established and recognized cadre of faculty through the activities and interactions provided by the clinical liaison faculty member. Previous authors have argued that part-time instructors often feel isolated from full-time faculty and that they experience role ambiguity because of lack of clarification from the academic institution which hires them. This in turn leads to job dissatisfaction and sub-standard job performance (Banachowski, 1996; DeYoung & Bliss, 1995; Karuhije, 1986; Myrick, 1988).

# Implications for Students

Through clinical teaching, students learn how to apply theoretical and abstract concepts from classroom lecture to specific and concrete situations, and they acquire the characteristics of professional roles and values (Wong & Wong, 1987). Students who are assured of the interest of the clinical instructor, and who believe they will receive a fair and impartial evaluation from that instructor may feel a greater motivation to learn (Kiker, 1973). Students who are satisfied with clinical experiences most often rate the clinical instructor at a high level. The degree of satisfaction students exhibit in a clinical area and with a specific clinical instructor may also impact individual student choices of area of practice and selection of a work setting (Stith, Butterfield, Strube, Deusinger, & Gillespie, 1998).

Across disciplines of nursing and allied health professions, students identify similar characteristics of effective teachers: demonstrating respect for students, demonstrating patience with students, correcting student mistakes in private rather than in the presence of others, modeling professionalism, providing clear expectations to students as well as fair and objective evaluations, and fostering the student's ability to think critically and make independent decisions (Daniels & DeVos, 1996). In analyzing all these traits, the conclusion may be reached that these students desire to be treated as adult learners. Students cannot be frightened into doing a better job; rather, they thrive in an environment of honest and open interaction without fear of hidden agendas (Massarweh, 1999). Focus on the teacher-student relationship should move into the forefront for nursing education. The student nurse has a central position in the learning process as an adult learner; and for students to determine whether clinical interactions are beneficial, and that the clinical teacher of nursing is therefore a positive role model, then those interactions must be perceived by the students to meet their individual learning needs.

# Implications for Clinical Nurse Teachers

The clinical teacher of nursing should recognize the importance of characteristics that are viewed both by students and their peers as effective and necessary from the results of this study. Teaching strategies and attitudes of clinical teachers may be reinforced, changed or further developed so that students see the clinical learning environment as an enjoyable and interesting experience rather than one to dread. Ultimately, clinical teachers in nursing hold the integrity, prestige, and professional credibility of future nursing practice in their hands. Karuhije (1986) stated, "If professional practice is to be guided by nursing theory; if knowledgeable use of a variety of teaching strategies is an imperative for stimulating and creative clinical instruction; if competence in planning clinical experiences and evaluating student performance is an essential instructional skill; if it is understood that theory taught in isolation from practice is virtually useless, then the goals of clinical instruction can only be achieved by the best prepared individual..." (p. 143).

Clinical faculty, as teachers of adults, must become self-aware of behaviors displayed in the clinical setting and to consciously note whether these behaviors facilitate student movement toward self-directed learning and independence in their practice of nursing (Galbraith, 1998). It is often difficult for teachers to let go of their power and authority and allow students to assume a leadership position in the learning process. Freire (1970) described the banking concept of education, where knowledge is deposited by the all-knowing teacher into students who are the passive receptacles. Freire poses that teachers and students must change places, and each should become jointly responsible for the learning process where each individual is seen to grow, if education is to be at all meaningful.

There may be no right or wrong way to teach, but by maintaining and constantly seeking to improve clinical skills, participating in research of new technology and teaching methods, pursuing personal and professional developments in the field of nursing practice, and by recognizing their own abilities and inclinations, clinical teachers of nursing will ensure the best possible learning outcomes for students. By providing students an environment to experience all facets of nursing roles, the clinical teacher of nursing allows students to gain self-confidence, be self-directed, and develop professional and clinical skills necessary to carry students into their future practice areas.

# **Recommendations**

The examination of clinical teaching effectiveness should be an ongoing and constantly evolving process. As the human resources in nursing education continue to diminish, alternatives should be sought to provide the highest quality of clinical education possible. Those individuals who become clinical teachers in nursing must analyze their own abilities to teach, and to help student make the necessary bridges from conceptual and theoretical information to practice, and to enhance the quality of the clinical teaching/learning process.

Several recommendations for future research and practice have evolved from this study:

1. Replicate the study with a larger sample size and more diverse settings within the southeastern region of the United States to compare findings.

2. Use a longitudinal approach for data collection rather than a single point of data collection. This would allow the researcher to compare perceptions of students over time of the clinical nursing faculty they work with, and to determine whether perceptions change as students mature in the nursing program.

3. Collect data through direct observation or through interviews of clinical teachers of nursing, in order to achieve insight into the role of the most effective clinical teacher in nursing, and to observe role modeling techniques or other characteristics of teachers recognized as being most effective.

4. Include information in the demographic portion of the survey instrument that addresses the number of years of experience held by the respondent in nursing

practice in general, rather than only in teaching to determine whether this factor might influence student perception of teaching effectiveness.

5. Future studies should address possible differences in groups so that data dependency does not exist. This might be done through structuring all responses as confidential rather than anonymous to allow comparison of responses.

6. Schools of nursing should provide a structured orientation for all clinical faculty to enhance both the instructional skills of these faculty and the feeling of belongingness they feel with the school. This orientation should include formal classes on organization, teaching strategies, evaluation strategies, and an overview of the specific program curriculum. Part-time faculty should be assigned a full-time faculty mentor who can provide support and encouragement as well as individual instruction to assist in the development of part-time faculty. If at all possible, a clinical liaison individual should be appointed to provide further support, encouragement, instruction, and assistance to part-time faculty. This is especially critical if the part-time faculty has little or no clinical teaching experience.

## Summary

Nursing is a practice-based discipline that combines an art and science to produce caring, practicing professionals. These individuals must have effective role models in both the classroom and the clinical area so that student behaviors are shaped appropriately. Clinical experiences are a vital part of student education in nursing, and such experiences must be guided by clinical faculty who are perceived by students to be effective teachers. This study has delineated some characteristics of effective clinical instructors that could be incorporated into the orientation clinical instructors, and emphasized by schools of nursing through curricular teaching philosophies to enhance and optimize the clinical experience for both the student and the clinical teacher.

# REFERENCES

- Abrami, P. C., d'Apollonia, S., & Cohen, P. A. (1990). Validity of student ratings of instruction: What we know and what we do not. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(2), 219-231.
- Ahern, K. A. (1999). The nurse lecturer role in clinical practice conceptualized: Helping clinical teachers provide optimal student learning. *Nurse Education Today, 19*, 79-82.
- Allison-Jones, L. L. (2002). Student and faculty perceptions of teaching effectiveness of full-time and part-time associate degree nursing faculty. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 63(08). (UMI No. 3061240).
- Allison-Jones, L. L., & Hirt, J. B. (2004). Comparing the teaching effectiveness of parttime and full-time clinical nurse faculty. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 25(5), 238-243.
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (1992). *Position statement for addressing nursing educations' agenda for the 21<sup>st</sup> century*. Washington, DC: Author.

Anderson, C. (1996). Teaching is not feeding. Nursing Outlook, 44, 257-258.

Angelo, T. A., & Cross, K. P. (1993). Classroom assessment techniques: A handbook for college teachers (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Appleton, C. (1990). The meaning of human care and the experience of caring in a University school of nursing. In M. Leininger, & Watson, J. (Ed.), *The Caring Imperative in Education* (pp. 77-94). New York: National League for Nursing.
- Armington, D. L., Keinikka, E. A., & Creighton, H. (1972). Student evaluation Threat or incentive? *Nursing Outlook*, 20, 789-792.
- Banachowski, G. (1996). Perspectives and perceptions: The use of part-time faculty in community colleges (Item no. 9701212722). *Community College Review*, 24(2), 49-62.
- Barham, V. Z. (1965). Identifying effective behavior of the nursing instructor through critical incidents. *Nursing Research*, *14*(1), 65-69.
- Beck, C. T. (1991). How students perceive faculty caring: A phenomenological study. *Nurse Educator, 16*, 18-22.
- Benor, D. E., & Leviyof, I. (1997). The development of students' perceptions of effective teaching: The ideal, best and poorest clinical teacher in nursing. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 36(5), 206-211.
- Bergman, K., & Gaitskill, T. (1990). Faculty and student perceptions of effective clinical teachers: An extension study. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 6 (1), 33-44.
- Best, J. T. (2001). Effective teaching for the elderly: Back to basics. *Orthopaedic Nursing*, 20(3), 46-52.
- Brown, R. J. (2003). Development of an instrument for the evaluation of teaching effectiveness among nurse anesthesia clinical faculty. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 64 (09). (UMI No. 3107178).

- Brown, S. T. (1981). Faculty and student perceptions of effective clinical teachers. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 20(9), 4-15.
- Burns, N. & Grove, S. (2001). The practice of nursing research: Conduct, critique & utilization (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Company.

Clery, S. (1998). Faculty in academe. National Education Association Update, 4(4), 1-6.

Collinson, V. (1999). Redefining teacher excellence. Theory Into Practice, 38, 4-11.

- Dale, A. E. (1994). The theory-theory gap: The challenge for nurse teachers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 20, 521-524.
- Daniels, M., & DeVos, D. (1996). Students' expectations of clinical teachers. *Radiologic Technology*, 68(1), 89-93.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Wise, A. E., & Pease, S. R. (1983). Teacher evaluation in the organizational context: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 53, 285-328.
- Davis, J. (1989). Making the model fit: Theory and practice. Senior Nurse, 9(2), 17-19.
- Dawson, N. (1986). Hours of contact and their relationship to students' evaluation of teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 25(6), 236-239.
- de Tornyay, R. (1984). Evaluating teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 23(5), 177.
- De Young, S., & Bliss, J. B. (1995). Nursing faculty–an endangered species? *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 11(2), 84-88.
- Dunlevy, C. L., & Wolf, K. N. (1992). Perceived differences in the importance and frequency of practice of clinical teaching behaviors. *Journal of Allied Health*, *21* (3), 175-183.

- Dunn, S. V., & Burnett, P. (1995). The development of a clinical learning environment scale. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22, 1166-1173.
- Dunn, S. V., Stockhausen, I., Thornton, R., & Barnard, A. (1995). The relationship between clinical education format and selected student learning outcomes. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(1), 16-24.
- Emerson, R., & Groth, K. (1996). The verbal connection: Effective clinical teaching maximizing student communication skills. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 35(6), 275-277.
- Fawcett, T. N., & McQueen, A. (1994). Clinical credibility and the role of the nurse teacher. *Nurse Education Today*, 14, 264-271.
- Feldman, K. A. (1986). The perceived instructional effectiveness of college teachers as related to their personality and attitudinal characteristics: A review and synthesis. *Research in Higher Education*, 24, 139-213.
- Ferguson, d. S. (1996). The lived experience of clinical educators. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 23, 835-841.
- Fong, C. M., & McCauley, G. T. (1993). Measuring the nursing, teaching, and interpersonal effectiveness of clinical instructors. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 32(7), 325-327.
- Forrest, S., Brown, N., & Pollock, L. (1996). The clinical role of the nurse teacher: An exploratory study of the nurse teacher's present and ideal role in the clinical area. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 24, 1257-1264.
- Freire, P. (1970). Pedagogy of the Oppressed. New York: Herder & Herder.

Frontczak, P. A. (1999). Faculty and student perceptions of effective clinical teachers. *Dissertation Abstracts International, 38* (03). (UMI No. 1397663).

- Galbraith, M. W. (1998). Becoming an effective teacher of adults. In M. W. Galbraith (Ed.), *Adult Learning Methods* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.) (pp. 3-19). Malabar, FL: Krieger.
- Gien, L. T. (1991). Evaluation of faculty teaching effectiveness-toward accountability in education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 30(2), 92-94.
- Gignac-Caille, A. M., & Oermann, M. H. (2001). Student and faculty perceptions of effective clinical instructors in ADN programs. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 40 (8), 347-353.
- Gillespie, M. (2002). Student-teacher connection in clinical nursing education. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 37(6), 566-576.
- Griffith, J. W., & Bakanauskas, A. J. (1983). Student-instructor relationships in nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 22, 104-107.

Halldorsdottir, S. (1990). The essential structure of a caring and an uncaring encounter with a teacher: The perspective of the nursing student. In M. Leininger, & Watson, J. (Eds.), *The Caring Imperative in Education* (pp. 95-108). New York: National League for Nursing.

- Hanson, L., & Smith, M. J. (1996). Nursing students' perspectives: Experiences of caring and not-so-caring interactions with faculty. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 35, 105-112.
- Hohler, S. E. (2003). Creating an environment conducive to adult learning. *AORN Journal*, 77(4), 833-835.

Hopkins, J. A. (1999). Nursing clinical instructor behaviors and student satisfaction. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 37(04). (UMI No. 1393642).

- Imel, S. (1998). Using adult learning principles in adult basic and literacy education.
  (Practice Application Brief No. N/A). Columbus, Ohio: Center on Education and Training for Employment, College of Education, The Ohio State University.
  (USDOE Contract No. ED-99-CO-0013).
- Jacobson, M. D. (1966). Effective and ineffective behavior of teachers of nursing as determined by their students. *Nursing Research*, *15*(3), 218-224.
- Jacono, B. J., & Jacono, J. J. (1995). The impact of teacher characteristics on teaching. Journal of Nursing Staff Development, 11(3), 146-149.
- Jarvis, P. (1992). Theory and practice and the preparation of teachers of nursing. *Nurse Education Today*, *12*, 258-265.
- Jinks, G. H. (1991). Making the most of the practical placements: What the nurse teacher can do to maximize the benefits for students. *Nurse Education Today*, 11, 127-133.
- Jirovec, R. L., Ramanathan, C. S., & Alvarez, A. R. (1998). Course evaluations: What are social work students telling us about teaching effectiveness? *Journal of Social Work Education*, 34(2), 229-236.
- Kanitsaki, O., & Sellick, K. (1989). Clinical nurse teaching: An investigation of student perceptions of clinical nurse teacher behaviours. *The Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 6(4), 18-24.
- Karuhije, H. F. (1986). Educational preparation for clinical teaching: Perceptions of the nurse educator. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 25(4), 137-144.

- Karuhije, H. F. (1997). Classroom and clinical teaching in nursing: Delineating differences. *Nursing Forum*, 32(2), 5-12.
- Kegel-Flom, P. (1983). Personality traits in effective clinical teachers. *Research in Higher Education*, 19(1), 73-82.
- Kennedy, R. C. (2003). Applying principles of adult learning: The key to more effective training programs. *FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin*, 1-5.
- Kiker, M. (1973). Characteristics of the effective teacher. *Nursing Outlook, 21*(11), 721-723.
- Kirschling, J. M., Fields, J., Imle, M., Mowery, M., Tanner, C. A., Perrin, N., et al.(1995). Evaluating teaching effectiveness. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 34(9), 401-410.
- Knowles, M. S. (1970). *The modern practice of adult education: Andragogy versus pedagogy*. New York: Association Press.
- Knowles, M. S. (1973). *The adult learner: A neglected species*. Houston: Gulf Publishing Company.
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). *The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy* (Rev. ed.). Chicago: Follett.
- Knox, J., & Mogan, J. (1985). Important clinical teacher behaviors as perceived by university nursing faculty, students and graduates. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 10(1), 25-30.
- Koon, J., & Murray, H. G. (1995). Using multiple outcomes to validate student ratings of overall teacher effectiveness. *Journal of Higher Education*, *66*(1), 61-81.

- Kost, G., Chalko, B., & Vinten, S. (2004). Faculty matters. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 25(1), 8-9.
- Kotzabassaki, S., Panou, M., Dimou, F., Karabagli, A., Koutsopoulou, B., & Ikonomou, U. (1997). Nursing students' and faculty's perceptions of the characteristics of 'best' and 'worst' clinical teachers: A replication study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26, 817-824.
- Krichbaum, K., (1994). Clinical teaching effectiveness described in relation to learning outcomes of baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education, 33* (7), 306-316.
- Lee, D. T. (1996). The clinical role of the nurse teacher: A review of the dispute. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 23, 1127-1134.
- Lee, W.-S. C., Cholowski, K., & Williams, A. K. (2002). Nursing students' and clinical educators' perceptions of characteristics of effective clinical educators in an Australian university school of nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *39*(5), 412-420.
- Li, M. K. (1997). Perceptions of effective clinical teaching behaviours in a hospital-based nurse training programme. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *26*, 1252-1261.
- Lieb, S. (1991). Principles of adult learning. *VISION*, Fall 1991. Retrieved March 9, 2005 from http://honolulu.hawaii.edu/intranet/committees/FacDevCom/guidebk/ teachtip/adults-2.htm.
- Massarweh, L. (1999). Promoting a positive clinical experience. *Nurse Educator*, 24(3), 44-47.

- Meleca, C. B., Schimpfhauser, F., Witteman, J. K., & Sachs, L. (1981). Clinical instruction in nursing: A national survey. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 20(8), 32-40.
- Melrose, S. (2004). What works? A personal account of clinical teaching strategies in nursing. *Education for Health*, *17*(2), 236-239.
- Miller, B. K., Haber, J., & Byrne, M. W. (1990). The experience of caring in the teaching-learning process of nursing education: Student and teacher perspectives.
  In M. L. Leininger & J. Watson (Eds.) *The caring imperative in education* (pp. 125-136). New York: National League for Nursing.
- Miller, M. D. (1982). Factorial validity of a clinical teaching scale. *Educational and Psychological Measurement, 42*, 1141-1147.
- Mogan, J., & Knox, J. (1983). Students' perceptions of clinical teaching. *Nursing Papers*, 15(3), 4-13.
- Mogan, J., & Knox, J. (1987). Characteristics of 'best' and 'worst' clinical teachers as perceived by university nursing faculty and students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *12*, 331-337.
- Mogan, J., & Warbinek, E. (1994). Teaching behaviours of clinical instructors: An audit instrument. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 20, 160-166.
- Morton, P. G. (1987). Student evaluation of teaching: Potential and limitations. *Nursing Outlook*, *35*, 86-88.
- Munro, B. (2001). *Statistical methods for health care research* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.

- Myrick, F. (1988). Preceptorship–is it the answer to the problems in clinical teaching? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 27(3), 136-138.
- Myrick, F. (1991). The plight of clinical teaching in baccalaureate nursing education. Journal of Nursing Education, 30(1), 44-46.
- Nahas, V. L., Nour, V., & Al-Nobani, M. (1999). Jordanian undergraduate nursing students' perceptions of effective clinical teachers. *Nurse Education Today*, 19, 639-648.
- Nehring, V. (1990). Nursing clinical teacher effectiveness inventory: A replication study of the characteristics of 'best' and 'worst' clinical teachers as perceived by nursing faculty and students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *15*, 934-940.
- Nieswiadomy, R. M. (1998). *Foundations of nursing research* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Stamford: Appleton & Lange.
- O'Shea, J. S., & Parsons, M. K. (1979). Clinical instruction: Effective and ineffective teacher behaviors. *Nursing Outlook*, 27, 411-415.
- Owen, S. (1993). Identifying a role for the nurse teacher in the clinical area. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 18, 816-825.
- Parker, L. S., & Magnensen, V. A. (1986). Is it wizardry or magic? What makes an outstanding teacher? *Innovation Abstracts*, *8*, 1.
- Perciful, E., & Nester, P. (1996). The effect of an innovative clinical teaching method on nursing students' knowledge and critical thinking skills. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 35(1), 23-28.
- Polit, D., & Hungler, B. (1995). Nursing research: Principles and methods (5<sup>th</sup> ed.).Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott Company.

- Pugh. E. J. (1988). Soliciting student input to improve clinical teaching. *Nurse Educator*, *13*(5), 28-33.
- Reeve, M. M. (1994). Development of an instrument to measure effectiveness of clinical instructors. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *33*(1), 15-20.
- Rice, C. P. (1992). Strategies and faculty roles for teaching RN students. *Nurse Educator*, *17*(1), 33-37.
- Rideout, E. M. (1994). 'Letting go': Rationale and strategies for student-centred approaches to clinical teaching. *Nurse Education Today*, *14*, 146-151.
- Rosenfeld, P. (1993). *Nurse educators 1993: Findings from the faculty census*. Paper presented at the National League for Nursing, New York.
- Scanlan, J. (2001). Learning clinical teaching: Is it magic? *Nurse and Health Care Perspectives*, 22(5), 240-246.
- Seigel, H. (1984). Up the down staircase in nursing education: An analysis of the nurse educator as a professional. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 23(3), 114-117.
- Sieh, S., & Bell, S. K. (1994). Perceptions of effective clinical teachers in associate degree programs. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 33(9), 389-394.
- Smith, R. A., & Cranton, P. A. (1992). Students' perceptions of teaching skills and overall effectiveness across instructional settings. *Research in Higher Education*, 33, 747-765.
- Smith, R. M. (1982). *Learning how to learn: Applied theory for adults*. Chicago: Follett Publishing Company.

- Spear, G., & Mocker, D. (1989). The future of adult education. In S. Merriam & P. Cunningham, (Eds.), *Handbook of adult and continuing education* (pp. 718-San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Steubbe, B. (1980). Student and faculty perspectives on the role of a nursing instructor. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *19*(7), 4-9.
- Stith, J., Butterfield, W., Strube, M., Deusinger, S., & Gillespie, D. (1998). Personal, interpersonal, and organizational influences on student satisfaction with clinical education. *Physical Therapy*, 78(6), 635-645.
- Tough, A. (1971). *The adult's learning projects: A fresh approach to theory and practice in adult learning* (No. 1). Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Turgeon, M. L. (1987). Student perceptions of the characteristics of effective teachers. *Journal of Medical Technology*, 4(6), 249-252.
- Varassi, G. P. (1989). Baccalaureate nursing students' identification of the characteristics associated with the most and least effective clinical instructors. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 50(08). (UMI No. 9002601).
- Walsh, D. J., & Maffei, M. J. (1994). Never in a class by themselves: An examination of behaviors affecting the student-professor relationship. *Journal on Excellence in College Teaching*, 5(2), 23-49.
- White, L. C. (1997). Perceptions of effective clinical teachers in practical nursing programs. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 58(06). (UMI No. 9735768).
- Wilson. M. E. (1994). Nursing student perspective of learning in a clinical setting. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 33(2), 81-86.

- Windsor, A. (1987). Nursing students' perceptions of clinical experience. Journal of Nursing Education, 26(4), 150-154.
- Wiseman, R. F. (1994). Role model behaviors in the clinical settings. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 33(9), 405-410.
- Wong, J., & Wong, S. (1987). Towards effective clinical teaching in nursing. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 12, 505-513.
- Wood, V., & Matthewman, J. (1988). Performance of nursing instructors: An examination of four tools. *Nursing Education Today*, 8, 131-139.
- Yoon, S. L., & Horne, C. H. (2004). Accruing the sample in survey research. Southern Online Journal of Nursing Research, 5(2), 1-17.
- Zimmerman, L., & Waltman, N. (1986). Effective clinical behaviors of faculty: A review of the literature. *Nurse Educator*, *11*(1), 31-34.
- Zimmerman, L., & Westfall, J. (1988). The development and validation of a scale measuring effective clinical teaching behaviors. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 27(6), 274-277.

APPENDICES

## APPENDIX A

## INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB)

# Auburn University

Auburn University, Alabama 36849



Office of Human Subjects Research 307 Samford Hall

Telephone: 334-844-5966 Fax: 334-844-4391 hsubjec@cuburn.edu

October 6, 2004

MEMORANDUM TO:	Susan P. Holmes Nursing/ADED
PROTOCOL TITLE:	"Student and Faculty Perception of Clinical Teaching Effectiveness of Full-Time and Part-Time Baccalaureate Degree Clinical Nursing Faculty"
IRB FILE:	# 04-145 EP 0410
APPROVAL DATE: EXPIRATION DATE:	October 29, 2004 October 28, 2005

The above reference protocol was approved by IRB Expedited procedure under Category #7 on October 29, 2004. You should report to the IRB any proposed changes in the protocol or procedures and any unanticipated problems involving risk to subjects or others. Please reference the above authorization number in any future correspondence regarding this project.

If you will be unable to file a Final Report on your project before October 28, 2005, you must submit a request for an extension of approval to the IRB no later than October 13, 2005. If your IRB authorization expires and/or you have not received written notice that a request for an extension has been approved prior to October 28, 2005, you must suspend the project immediately and contact the Office of Human Subjects Research for assistance.

A Final Report will be required to close your IRB project file. You are reminded that consent forms must be retained at least three years after completion of your study.

If you have any questions concerning this Board action, please contact the Office of Human Subjects Research at 844-5966.

Sincerely,

Peter W. Granjean, Chair Institutional Review Board for the Use of Human Subjects in Research

cc: Dr. William Spencer Dr. James Witte

## APPENDIX B

#### AUBURN UNIVERSITY AT MONTGOMERY

#### IRB LETTER

AUBURN UNIVERSITY MONTGOMERY Institutional Review Board

#### MEMORANDUM

TO: Mr. E. N. Burson, Executive Director, Auburn University OHSR

FROM:

Dr. Lola L. McCord, Chair, AUM INB

DATE: September 14, 2004

**RE:** Ms. Susan Holmes' proposal for research, "Student and Faculty Perception of Clinical Teaching Effectiveness of Full-Time and Part-Time Baccalaureate Degree Clinical Nursing Faculty," *AUM IRB file #2004-21* 

By now, your office has no doubt received word from the aforementioned AU doctoral student (and clinical nursing instructor) that she intends to collect data at AUM as part of her dissertation research. By phone, I informed Ms. Holmes that AUM would accept the AU IRB's review and recommendation in lieu of additional review at this campus.

Ms. Holmes forwarded to us a complete copy of the research proposal she submitted to the AU IRB. We have screened Ms. Holmes' protocols and have no objections at this time. Given the nature of her protocols and the fact that they are currently under consideration at AU, we feel a subsequent review by our board would be redundant. However, should your IRB request further review from our board, please let us know. Please inform us as soon as possible if your board decides against approval or if any changes in her review status occur.

Should you need to contact me regarding this proposal, please reference the file number above and call me at 334-244-3359 or e-mail me at lmccord@mail.aum.edu.

Attachment

Cc:

Ms. Susan Holmes, AU School of Nursing

P.O. Box 244023 Montgomery, Alabama 36124-4023 Located at L85 and Taylor Road (334) 244-3548 ATTNet 240-3548 fax (334) 244-3472

#### APPENDIX C

#### INFORMATION LETTER

## Auburn University

Auburn University, Alabama 36849-5505

School of Nursing Miller Hall

Telephone: (334) 844-5665 FAX: (334) 844-5654

#### INFORMATION ON A STUDY OF STUDENT AND FACULTY PERCEPTIONS OF CLINICAL TEACHING EFFECTIVENESS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BACCALAUREATE DEGREE CLINICAL NURSING FACULTY

You are invited to participate in a study that will provide information on the clinical teaching effectiveness of both full-time and part-time baccalaureate degree clinical nursing faculty. The study is to be conducted by Susan Holmes, RN, MSN, CRNP for dissertation research. It is hoped that we will gain information on the perceptions of students as well as the self-perceptions of full-time and part-time clinical nursing faculty concerning clinical teaching effectiveness. You were selected as a possible participant because you are a senior-level baccalaureate nursing student at Auburn University, or you are a clinical nursing faculty member. You must be age 19 or older to participate in this study.

Your participation would involve the completion of a survey: the Nursing Clinical Teaching Effectiveness Inventory. Students are asked to complete two surveys: one on full-time clinical nursing faculty and one on part-time clinical nursing faculty. Clinical nursing faculty are asked to complete one survey as a self-assessment. Each survey takes approximately 20 minutes to complete. The survey has 48 items, and each item is rated on a Likert-type scale from "never important" to "always important". Characteristics that have been identified to be representative of the clinical nursing teacher, and which are included in this survey are: teaching ability, nursing competence, ability to evaluate, interpersonal qualities, and personal style or personality. The surveys will be given to you during the fall semester of 2004. Completing and returning the questionnaires will imply your consent to participate in this study.

The risks for participation in this study are minimal. Breaches of confidentiality are unlikely, as there are no names requested on any of the survey instruments. The surveys will be kept securely by Susan Holmes, and will be destroyed after data collection is complete.

Findings from the study will be provided to you upon request at the end of the project. Faculty and other nursing students may benefit from the information you provide on clinical teaching effectiveness. The overall quality of nursing education is strongly linked to the clinical component of nursing education, and clinical teaching effectiveness of faculty members. Information from this study may contribute to orientation programs for new clinical faculty members by focusing on the characteristics of the most effective clinical teachers, in order to improve those clinical faculty members' performance. We cannot promise that you will receive any definite individual benefit, however.

> HUMAN SUBJECTS OFFICE OF RESEARCH PROJECT #<u>04-145 EP 041</u>0 APPROVED10-24-04 TO10-28-05

#### A LAND-GRANT UNIVERSITY

Information collected through your participation will be used for dissertation research, and may also be used for presentations and publications, but will not contain personally identifiable information. Under no circumstances will any of the survey information affect your progression in the program if you are a student, nor will it affect any teaching evaluations if you are a faculty member. Your decision of whether or not to participate will not jeopardize your future relations with Auburn University or the School of Nursing. If you have any questions concerning this study, you may contact Susan Holmes at 844-6762 (office) or by email at holmesu@auburn.edu. The committee chair is Dr. James Witte, Adult Education, EFLT, who can be reached at (334)844-3054 or at witteje@auburn.edu.

For more information regarding your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Office of Human Subjects Research by phone or email, and speak with the Executive Director "Chip" Burson at 844-5966 (<u>bursoen@auburn.edu</u>) or IRB Chair Dr. Peter Grandjean at 844-1462 (<u>grandpw@auburn.edu</u>).

HAVING READ THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, YOU MUST DECIDE WHETHER TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS RESEARCH PROJECT. IF YOU DECIDE TO PARTICIPATE, THE DATA YOU PROVIDE WILL SERVE AS YOUR AGREEMENT TO DO SO. THIS LETTER IS YOURS TO KEEP.

Investigator's Signature

Date.

HUMAN SUBJECTS OFFICE OF RESEARCH PROJECT #<u>()4-145 EP 0410</u> APPROVED19-21-010-23-05

### APPENDIX D

#### SURVEY FORM A-1 FOR STUDENT EVALUATION

#### OF PART-TIME FACULTY

#### NURSING CLINICAL TEACHER EFFECTIVENESS INVENTORY FORM A-1 STUDENT EVALUATION OF PART-TIME FACULTY

Please grade the performance of a part-time clinical instructor you have had during the professional program of the nursing curriculum, using the scale provided. Regard the scale as a continuum, where 1 equals NEVER, and 7 equals ALWAYS. You may mark your score anywhere on the scale.

1. Explaine								
^	^	^	^	^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
2. Emphasized what is important								
^	^	^	^	^	^	^^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
3. Stimulated student's interest in the subject								
			^		^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
4. Was not	accessible	e to students						
			^	^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
-	-	C		C	0			
5. Demonst	rated clin	ical procedu	ires and tech	niques				
			^_		^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
I		5	т	5	0	/		

-		•		practice opp	ortunities	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		lp when diff			^_	•
Never	^		^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. Was po	orly prepar	red for teach	ing	٨	^_	٨
Never	^					Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. Enjoyed	d teaching	۸	٨	^	^	•
Never		^	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10. Encour	aged activ	e participati	on in discus	sion	^_	
Never	^		^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		n to students			^	•
Never		^	^_		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		students we			^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
				ns raised by	students	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

		nts to elicit u			^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		rganize thei			problems	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16. Promote	ed student	dependence	; ^	•	^	^
Never			^		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		or clinical sk			^	•
Never			^_	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		nmunicatior		٨	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		adings in his			^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		developme			^	Δ
Never	^		^		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		to useful lit		ursing	٨	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

22. Demon	nstrated a b	readth of kn	owledge in	nursing	^	٨
Never 1		3			6	Always 7
23. Recogn	nized own	limitations	•		^	•
Never 1				5		Always 7
24. Took r	esponsibili	ty for own a	ctions	^	^	^
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
25. Was a	good role r	nodel	٨	^	^	^
Never 1				5		Always 7
26. Enjoye	d nursing	Λ	٨	٨	^	٨
Never				5		Always 7
		ggestions for			^	•
Never				5		Always 7
				nts' performa	ance	٨
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
				ons objectiv	ely^	
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

30. Observe	d student	s' performan	ice	•	•	٨
Never	^	^	^		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	
31. Commu						
	^	^^	^	^	^	
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
32. Had unre						
Never	^	^	^	^	·^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
Ŧ	2	5	•	5	0	,
33. Gave stu performance	-	sitive reinfor	cement for	good contrib	outions, obse	ervations, and
		^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
34. Correcte						
Never	/	^	^	^	·^_	
1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
1	2	5		5	0	,
35. Did not o						
	^_	^	^	^	^^	
Never	2	2	4	F	6	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
36. Provided	l support	and encoura	gement to s	tudents		
۸	^_	^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
37. Was una	pproacha	ıble				
۸		^	^	^	^	^^
Never	2	2	<u>,</u>	-	6	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

38. Encour	aged a clin	nate of mutu	al respect	٨	^	٨
Never 1				5		Always 7
39. Listene	ed attentive	ly ^	٨	٨	^	٨
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
40. Showe	d a persona	al interest in	students	٨	^	٨
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
41. Demon	strated em	pathy	٨	٨	^	٨
Never 1				5		Always 7
42. Demon			٨	٨	^	Δ
Never	2			5		Always 7
43. Was a	dynamic, e	nergetic per	son	•	^	•
Never 1				5		Always 7
44. Was se			^	٨	^	~
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
		teaching per		onstructivel	y A	Δ
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

46. Was o	pen-minded	d and non-ju	dgmental			
^	·^	^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
47. Had a	good sense	of humor				
^	·^	^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
48. Was d	isorganized	1				
^	^	^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

## APPENDIX E

### SURVEY FORM A-2 FOR STUDENT EVALUATION OF

#### FULL-TIME FACULTY

#### NURSING CLINICAL TEACHER EFFECTIVENESS INVENTORY FORM A-2 STUDENT EVALUATION OF FULL-TIME FACULTY

School:\_\_\_\_\_\_\_Clinical Setting for this evaluation: (pediatrics, obstetrics, med-surg, psychiatric, critical care):\_\_\_\_\_\_\_Your age:\_\_\_\_\_\_Gender: FEMALE MALE (please circle one) Semester and year of rotation for which you are evaluating this clinical instructor:

Please grade the performance of a full-time clinical instructor (faculty member) you have had during the professional program of the nursing curriculum, using the scale provided. Regard the scale as a continuum, where 1 equals NEVER, and 7 equals ALWAYS. You may mark your score anywhere on the scale.

1. Explaine		^	٨	^	^	٨				
Never	^	^	^			Always				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
2. Emphasized what is important										
^	^	^	^	^	^	^				
Never						Always				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
3. Stimulate	3. Stimulated student's interest in the subject									
				^	^	^				
Never						Always				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
4. Was not	accessible	e to students	5							
^	^	^	^	^	^	^				
Never						Always				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
5. Demonstrated clinical procedures and techniques										
				^	^	^				
Never						Always				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				

6. Helped stu		ify and make				٨			
Never		3				Always			
7. Offered sp	7. Offered special help when difficulties arose								
Never		3				Always			
8. Was poor	ly prepared	for teaching	^	٨	٨	٨			
Never		3				Always			
9. Enjoyed to	eaching	^	^_	^_	^	^			
Never 1		3				Always			
10. Encourag		rticipation i			^	^			
Never		3				Always			
11. Geared ir		students' le			٨	<b>^</b>			
Never		3				Always			
12. Understo		lents were a			٨	٨			
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7			
13. Answered		nd precisely				٨			
Never 1	2			5	6	Always 7			
14. Question		to elicit unde			^	^			
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7			

15. Helped st					blems	^
Never		3				Always 7
16. Promotec	l student der	pendence	٨	٨	^	٨
Never					6	Always
17. Demonst					^	<b>^</b>
Never		3				Always 7
18. Demonst				^_	^	^
Never					6	Always
19. Revealed					^_	^
Never						Always
20. Discusse					^	٨
Never 1					6	Always
21. Directed					^	<b>^</b>
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
22. Demonst					^	Λ
Never 1	2			5	6	Always 7
23. Recogniz			^	^	^	^
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

24. Took resp				•	^	٨				
Never		3				Always 7				
25. Was a go	25. Was a good role model									
Never		3				Always 7				
26. Enjoyed	nursing	٨	٨	٨	^	٨				
Never 1	2			5		Always 7				
27. Made spe		tions for im		^	^	^				
Never		3				Always 7				
28. Provided					e ^	^				
Never		3				Always 7				
29. Identified					^_	٨				
Never		3				Always 7				
30. Observed			^	^	^	^				
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7				
31. Commun	icated expec	ctations of st	udents poor	ly ^	^	^				
Never 1	2	3		5	6	Always 7				
32. Had unre				^	^	^				
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7				

performance		٨	٨	٨		•
Never	^	^_	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
			vithout belit		^	A
Never 1	2	3			6	Always 7
			$\frac{1}{2}$ ont of other		^	^
Never 1	2		4			Always 7
			igement to s		^	^
Never 1	2		4		6	Always 7
37. Was una			^	^	^	^
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
		mate of mutu		^	^	^
Never 1	2		4	5	6	Always 7
39. Listened			^	^		A
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
		al interest in	students	٨	٨	٨
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

33. Gave students positive reinforcement for good contributions, observations, and performance

41. Demonst			٨	٨	^	^				
Never 1	2		4		6	Always 7				
42. Demonst			٨	٨	^	٨				
Never 1	2		4			Always 7				
	43. Was a dynamic, energetic person									
Never 1		3				Always 7				
44. Was self-		^	^_	^_	^	^				
Never 1	2		4			Always 7				
45. Used crit	icism of tea	ching perfor	mance cons	tructively	^	٨				
Never 1	2		4			Always 7				
46. Was oper				٨	^	٨				
Never 1	2		4			Always 7				
47. Had a go			٨	٨	^	٨				
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7				
48. Was diso	-	٨	٨	٨	٨	٨				
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7				

### APPENDIX F

#### SURVEY FORM B FOR FACULTY

#### SELF-EVALUATION

#### NURSING CLINICAL TEACHER EFFECTIVENESS INVENTORY FORM B FACULTY SELF-EVALUATION

School:						
Your majo	or focus for	clinical te	eaching:			
Are you fu	ull-time or p	part-time?				
Your age:			Gender:	FEMALE	MALE	(please circle one)
Your Race	e and/or Eth	nnicity:				
What nurs	ing credent	ials or cer	tifications do	·		
What is th	e highest d	egree vou	have obtaine			
Regard th	ne scale as	a continu		equals NEV		e scale provided. equals ALWAYS.
1. Explair	ned clearly	Λ	٨	^	~	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	
2. Empha	sized what	is importa	int 🔨	^	^	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	•
3. Stimula	ated studen	t's interest	t in the subje	ct	^_	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	
4. Was no	ot accessible	e to studer	nts	^		
Never		^	^	·^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	5
1	4	5	4	5	U	/

5. Demonstrated clinical procedures and techniques								
^	^	^	^	^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		

				practice opp	ortunities	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7. Offered	l special he	lp when diff	ficulties aros	se^	^	^
Never	2	2	4	F	ć	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. Was po	orly prepar	red for teach	ing ^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. Enjoye	d teaching	^	^	^	^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10. Encour	raged activ	e participatio	on in discus	sion	^	~~~~
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		n to students			^	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		students we			•	•
Never	^	^	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
				ns raised by		_
^ Never	^	·^	^	^	^	^ Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

		nts to elicit u			^	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
				bout patient	problems	٨
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16. Promote	ed student	dependence		•	^	•
Never	^	^	/		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		or clinical sk				
^ Never	^	^	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18. Demons	strated cor	nmunicatior	ı skills	•	^	•
Never	^	^	^			Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	
		dings in his			^	^
Never	^	^	^			Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	
20. Discuss	ed current	developme	nts in his/he	r field	۸	^
Never	^	^	^		^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		to useful lit		ursing	۸	^
Never	^		^			Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

22. Demon	strated a b	readth of kn	owledge in	nursing	^	^
Never 1		3			6	Always 7
23. Recogr	nized own l	limitations	•	•	^	•
Never 1				5		Always 7
24. Took re	esponsibili	ty for own a	ctions		^	•
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
25. Was a g	good role n	nodel	٨	^	^_	٨
Never 1				5		Always 7
26. Enjoye	d nursing	^	٨	Λ	^	~
Never				5		Always 7
		gestions for			^	•
Never				5		Always
28. Provide	ed construc	ctive feedbac	ck on studer	nts' performa	ance	·
^ Never	^	^	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
				ons objectiv	ely^	^
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

30. Observe	ed student	s' performat	nce	^	•	٨
Never	^	^				Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	•
21.0	• . 1	, , <b>.</b>	6 4 1 4	1		
		xpectations o			۸	^
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		xpectations o		٨	٨	٨
Never	^	^		^	^^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
performance	e			0		ervations, and
	^	^^	^	^	^	
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
-	-	C	·	C	0	·
		ts mistakes v				•
Never	^	^	·^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		students in fi			٨	Λ
Never						Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
36. Provide	d support	and encoura	agement to s	tudents		
^ Never	^	^	^	^	^	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
37. Was una		able^	٨	٨	٨	^
Never	^`	^	·	^		Always
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

		nate of mutu		^	^	٨
Never 1		3			6	Always 7
39. Listene	d attentive	ly ^	٨	۸	^	٨
Never 1		3				Always 7
40. Showed	d a persona	al interest in	students	۸	^	٨
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
41. Demon	strated em	pathy	٨	۸	^	٨
Never 1	2			5		Always 7
42. Demon			۸	٨	^	^
Never	2			5		Always 7
43. Was a c	dynamic, e	nergetic per	son	٨	^	^
Never 1		3				Always 7
44. Was se			٨	٨	^	^
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7
		teaching per			y ^	^
Never 1	2	3	4	5	6	Always 7

46. Was open-minded and non-judgmental								
^	^	^	^	^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
47 11-1-	1	- <b>f</b> 1						
47. Had a	-							
^	^	^	^	^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
40 11 1		1						
48. Was di	•							
^	^	^	^	·^	^	^		
Never						Always		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		

## APPENDIX G

#### LETTER OF PERMISSION FOR SURVEY USE FROM AUTHOR



THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA T.F. 206-2211 WESBROOK MALL VANCOUVER, B.C., CANADA V6T 2B5

THE SCHOOL OF NURSING

Susan B. Holmes School of Nursing Miller Hall Auburn University. Alabama 3689-5505

Vancouver, July 15th/04

Dear Susan Holmes,

You have my permission to use either version. My co-investigator agreed that I might allow the use of the tool for anyone I feel is using it in an ethical fashion. Since you are conducting the research within a University setting and already have your Committee, I assume that you have ethical approval from the Universities ethics committee.

Yours sincerely

Judith Mogan, RN. MA (Ad Ed) Assistant Professor Emerita